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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Hands Form Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | present the annual report
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year").

The Group is a Hong Kong-based subcontractor engaged in the provision
of wet trades works and the wet trades related ancillary works in Hong
Kong. In 2021, capitalising on our expertise and experience in providing wet
trades related solutions, we established an online platform for subscribers to
specify the payment application in our database.

The revenue from (i) provision of wet trades works and the wet trades
related ancillary works and (ii) provision of construction information
technology services for the Year amounted to approximately HK$117.5
million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$187.5 million or
61.5% as compared to approximately HK$305.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2020. The decrease was primarily due to (i) substantial
completion of the projects on hand during the Year and competitive
construction project pricing arising from intense market competition; and
(i) delay of certification of the Group’s certain work done by the relevant
customers as the relevant customers required additional time for certification
of the work done involved in several variation orders of the relevant project.
The construction information technology services contribute HK$300,000
for the Year. The gross loss of approximately HK$63.5 million reported
for the Year was lower than the gross profit of approximately HK$3.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2020 primarily due to the increase
in construction costs to deal with unexpected changes to the on-site
arrangements initiated by main contractors and increase in subcontracting
costs owing to the prolonged need for maintaining the required site
workforce resulted by the ongoing 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19).
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

The Directors are of the view that the general outlook of the industry and
the business environment in which the Group operates remains difficult and
challenging. Since January 2020, the outbreak of COVID-19 has had drastic
effect on the Hong Kong economy and construction industry in terms of
cash flows, operational efficiencies and completion progress of certain
projects, including supply chain disruptions, workforce shortages due to
illness and preventative quarantines and work stoppages due to measures
imposed by the customers. Construction market in Hong Kong has been
experiencing adjustment under weakened market sentiment. The Group
has incurred additional costs for additional safe management measures on
site, such as safe distancing measures and regular periodic COVID-19 swab
tests, and to retain and recruit more workers in view of the shortage of
manpower due to border closures. Despite of the short-term challenges and
uncertainty in the industry, we will remain focused on our long-term goals
and sustainable developments. The Board will take appropriate measures to
improve operating efficiency and a prudent approach in tendering projects
in order to lessen any adverse impacts on the Group.

The Group has been exploring other business opportunities and/or
expanding the geographical coverage of the principal business of the Group
beyond the Hong Kong market in order to enhance our future development
and to strengthen the revenue bases of the Group. We believe that such
exploration would be worthy so that we will be well-prepared to dive into
any opportunities as they arise or come to our attention. We expect that
diversification of our business will provide a better return to the shareholders
of the Company (the "Shareholders").

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
deep gratitude to our committed staff and Directors for their dedication and
contribution, and to sincerely thank our customers, business partners and
investors for their continuous support and trust.

Cheung Kwok Fai Adam
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 28 March 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Business Review and Outlook

The Group is an established subcontractor in Hong Kong and is principally
engaged in (i) provision of wet trades works and other wet trades related
ancillary works and (ii) provision of construction information technology
services. Wet trades works include plastering on floors, walls and ceilings,
tile laying on internal and external walls and floors, brick laying and marble
works.

Provision of wet trades and its related ancillary
works

The Group provides wet trades works through its principal operating
subsidiaries, namely, Pak Fai Engineering Limited (“Pak Fai”) and Ma
Yau Engineering Limited (“Ma Yau"). Both of the principal operating
subsidiaries have been registered with the Registered Specialist Trade
Contractors Scheme (formerly known as the Subcontractor Registration
Scheme) of the Construction Industry Council. Pak Fai and Ma Yau first
completed such registrations under the predecessor scheme in April 2004
and our registrations have since then covered finishing wet trades, marble,
granite and stone work with a wide range of specialties including brick
work, plastering and tiling, spray plaster and screeding, marble and granite
works.

As at 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this annual report, the
original contract sum of the Group’s ongoing projects (including projects
that have commenced but not substantially completed as well as projects
that have been awarded but not yet commenced) in aggregate amounted
to approximately HK$359.6 million and HK$461.6 million respectively. As
at the date of this annual report, the Group was in the course of bidding
for or submitted bids pending the tender results of four projects, with an
estimated total contract sum of approximately HK$142.3 million.

Provision of construction information technology
services

Based on our Directors’ practical experience, any potential customers,
such as wet trades service providers in the construction industry, who do
not familiar with payment request and without connections to specialist
contractors may eventually seek from external resources for assistance in
performing their duties such as information on calculation of total work
done in their projects.

During the Year, capitalising on our expertise and experience in providing
passive wet trade payment request information technology solutions, we
established an online platform to provide subscribers with information such as
specifications of various wet trade services items in our database so as to assist
customers to carry out monthly review on the contractor’s payment requests.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE s e i

The Directors are aware that the ongoing outbreak of COVID-19 has added
substantial uncertainties and challenge to the Hong Kong economy and
further contributed to a downward trend in the Hong Kong construction
market. These had resulted in overall delay in the work status of the Group’s
projects on hand and delayed the Group’s cash flows from operation.
Although the overall business environment has gradually improved during
the Year, the Group’s tendering result, were still not satisfying. The intense
market competition may lead to smaller number of successful tenders and
guotations and lower value of contracts awarded to the Group. The Group’s
gross profit margin is also under pressure from competitive project pricing
on tenders and quotations, which in turn affects financial performance of
the Group.

In order to maintain its market share in the wet trades works industry,
the Group will continue to closely monitor the market and respond to
changes in market conditions. The Directors are confident that with the
Group’s reputation in the wet trades works industry and its experienced
management team, the Group is in a good position to compete with its
competitors. The Group will continue to improve its competitiveness in the
market by continuing to provide quality works to its customers. The Group
will also continue to proactively seek opportunities to expand its customer
base and its market share and undertake more wet trades projects which
will enhance value to the Shareholders.

Financial Review

Revenue

The Group's revenue decreased by approximately HK$187.5 million or
approximately 61.5% from approximately HK$305.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2020 to approximately HK$117.5 million for the Year.
The decrease in revenue was mainly due to (i) substantial completion of
the projects on hand during the Year and competitive construction project
pricing arising from intense market competition; and (i) delay of certification
of the Group’s certain work done by the relevant customers as the relevant
customers required additional time for certification of the work done
involved in several variation orders of the relevant project.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Gross (Loss) Profit and Gross Profit (Loss) Margin
The gross loss of the Group for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$63.5 million, representing a decrease of approximately 1,768.7%
as compared with gross profit of approximately HK$3.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020. The Group’s gross loss margin for the
Year was approximately 54.0%, as compared with gross profit margin of
approximately 1.2% for the year ended 31 December 2020. The decrease
in gross profit margin was mainly due to (i) competitive project pricing
arising from intense market competition; and (ii) additional subcontractors
and resources to deal with unexpected changes to the on-site arrangements
initiated by customer for (a) a project at Tseung Kwan O and (b) delays in
certain projects as a result of the outbreak of COVID-19.

Other Income
Other income of the Group for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$190,000, representing a decrease of approximately 98.6% or HK$13.3
million as compared with approximately HK$13.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2020. The decrease was primarily due to certain government
subsidies in last year.

Administrative Expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$9.5 million, representing a decrease of approximately
0.6% as compared with approximately HK$9.6 million for year ended
31 December 2020. The slightly decrease was mainly attributable to the
decrease in professional fee.

Finance Costs

Finance costs of the Group for the Year were approximately HK$418,000,
representing an increase of approximately 9.4% as compared with
approximately HK$382,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020. The
increase was mainly attributable to an increase in the interests on bank
borrowings, which was primarily driven by the increasing working capital for
sustaining its business operation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE s e i

Net (Loss) Profit

Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the Year decreased
by approximately HK$90.6 million or approximately 1,228.9% from
approximately HK$7.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to
net loss of HK$83.2 million for the Year. The decrease in the Group’s net
profit for the Year was mainly due to the negative effect of the decrease in
revenue and decrease in gross profit margin as discussed above.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and
Capital Structure

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were successfully listed (the
“Listing”) on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 16 August 2019 (the “Listing Date"”) on the
Listing Date and there has been no change in capital structure of the Group
since then.

As at 31 December 2021, the Company’s issued capital was HK$26,000,000
and the number of its issued ordinary shares was 2,600,000,000 of
HK$0.01 each.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had total cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$9.6 million (31 December 2020: approximately HK$5.9
million). The total borrowings of the Group, consisting of bank overdrafts
and bank borrowings, as at 31 December 2021 were approximately
HK$16.3 million (31 December 2020: approximately HK$17.8 million). All
borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollars. Interests are charged
at floating rates. The Group did not carry out any interest rate hedging

policy.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Treasury Policy

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach towards
its treasury policy. The Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position
to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities, and
other commitments can meet its funding requirements all the time.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had pledged (i) leasehold land and
buildings of net book value of approximately HK$6.2 million (31 December
2020: approximately HK$6.3 million); (ii) approximately HK$5.0 million
bank deposit (31 December 2020: approximately HK$5.0 million); and (iii)
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$2.5
million (31 December 2020: Nil) in order to secure bank facilities granted to
the Group.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong. Most of the operating
transactions and revenue were settled in Hong Kong dollars and the Group’s
assets and liabilities are primarily denominated in Hong Kong dollars. With
the insignificant portion of monetary transactions and assets denominated
in foreign currencies, the Group did not engage in any derivatives
agreement and did not commit to any financial instrument to hedge its
foreign exchange exposure during the Year (2020: Nil).

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2021, the gearing ratio (calculated as total bank
borrowings (i.e. bank overdrafts and bank borrowings) divided by the total
equity) was approximately 11.2% (31 December 2020: approximately
7.8%).

Capital Commitments and Contingent
Liabilities

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no material capital commitments
or contingent liabilities.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of
Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures

During the Year, the Group did not have any material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE s e i

Significant Investment Held

During the Year, the Group did not hold any significant investments.

Future Plans for Material Investments or
Capital Assets

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Future plans and use of
proceeds” in the prospectus of the Company dated 6 August 2019 (the
"Prospectus”), the Group does not have any other plans for material
investments or capital assets.

Use of Net Proceeds from the Listing

The amount of the proceeds, net of listing expenses (including underwriting
fee) either recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income or deducted from the share premium, from
the Listing (“Net Proceeds") was approximately HK$90.0 million.

Pursuant to the announcement of the Company dated 26 August 2021 (the
“Change in Net Proceeds Announcement”), the Company clarified that
approximately HK$70.8 million (instead of approximately HK$39.9 million as
originally disclosed) of the Net Proceeds was utilised for payment for upfront
costs for projects of the Group. The change in the use of the Net Proceeds
was decided on the basis of, among others, (i) the uncertainty as to the
development of the Outbreak and the time for full recovery of the Hong
Kong's economy and the Hong Kong construction market; (ii) the need
to solidify the Company’s financial position to enable itself to maintain its
reputation in the wet trades works industry and market competitiveness and
achieve long-term and sustainable development; (iii) the increase in upfront
costs for awarded projects; and (iv) certain business strategies can be delayed
to a later stage. For further details of the re-allocation and the reasons for
such change in use of the Net Proceeds, please refer to the Change in Net
Proceeds Announcement. Save as disclosed in the Change in Net Proceeds
Announcement, the Group has applied and intends to continue to apply the
Net Proceeds in accordance with the proposed applications set out in the
section headed “Future plans and use of proceeds” in the Prospectus.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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An analysis of the utilisation of the Net Proceeds up to 31 December 2021 BEE T —F+-RA=1+—AHAMERE

(after the re-allocation) is set out below: FEHE(KEFORR) 2OWMEHT
Planned use of Unutilised Expected date
Net Proceeds as Planned use of balanceupto  Actual use of Net Unutilised  of full utilisation
stated in the Net Proceeds 31 December 2020 Proceeds up to balanceupto  of the unutilised
Prospectus  (after re-allocation)  (after re-allocation) 31 December 2021 31 December 2021 Net Proceeds

EE-8$-8F  EESR--F
RREEFE  FRREFE  foAST-B foASt-R EESSS-F BRBARER

FeRERe R ZARBRESR BBBE  ToB=t-R ZAEHETE
HEmRE  (BENARA)  (BENIEA) fresEss ZRBRES ijbls:

HK$ 000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000

AT AT AT FET AT
1 Payment for upfront costs 1 9[RS 39,900 70,791 - 70,791 - N/A
e
2 Expansion of workforce 1ERETHA 18,700 156 - 156 - N/A
NER
3 Upgrading our office faciities and IFBEMERR 9900 1953 - 1,953 - N/A
information technology system REFRTZS NER
4 Acquiing machinery and equipment VEERERTR 8,300 7,100 - 7,100 - NIA
el
5 Payment of performance bonds S XARARE 7500 7500 7,500 7,500 - N/A
NER
6 Renting a new warehouse 6 HENNEE 3200 - - - - N/A
el
7 Acauiring safety equipment and tools TBERRRERIA 2,500 2500 - 2500 - NIA
el

90,000 90,000 7,500 90,000 -

As at 31 December 2021, the Company has fully utilised the Net Proceeds ~ R-ZEZ—F+-A=+—H AR A &#
as intended. ERBEBAMEHRIEFRE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2021, the Group employed a total of 15 employees
(including executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors), as
compared to a total of 21 employees as at 31 December 2020. Total staff
costs which include Directors’ emoluments for the Year were approximately
HK$6.6 million (year ended 31 December 2020: approximately HK$12.3
million). The salary and benefit level of the employees of the Group are
competitive and individual performance is rewarded through the Group's
salary and bonus system. The Group conducts annual review on the salary
increase, discretionary bonuses and promotions based on the performance
of each employee.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Board after
recommendation from the remuneration committee of the Company
(the “Remuneration Committee”), having considered factors such as
the Group’s financial performance and the individual performance of the
Directors, etc.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees.

During the Year, the Group has not experienced any significant problems
with its employees due to labour disputes nor has it experienced any
difficulty in the recruitment and retention of experienced staff.

Final Dividend

The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of final dividend
to Shareholders for the Year.

BE R HEMBER
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Report of the Directors

The Board is pleased to present to the Shareholders this annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the Year.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company while the principal
subsidiaries are principally engaged in (i) the provision of wet trades works
and other wet trades related ancillary works in Hong Kong and (ii) provision
of construction information technology services. Details of the principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements. There was no significant change in the Group’s
principal activities during the Year.

Business Review

Discussion and analysis of principal activities as required by Schedule 5 to
the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), including
a discussion of the principal risks facing the Group and an indication of likely
future developments in the Group's business, can be found in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 7 to 14 of
this annual report. The discussion forms part of this report of the Directors.

Results and Dividend

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page
89 of this annual report. The Board has resolved not to recommend the
declaration of final dividend to Shareholders for the Year.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

Relationship with Key Stakeholders

The Directors are of the view that employees, customers, sub-contractors
and suppliers are the keys to the sustainable development of the Group.
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Report of the Directors
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Employees

Employees are regarded as valuable assets of the Group. The objective of
the Group’s human resource management is to reward and recognise well-
performed staff by providing a competitive remuneration package and
implementing a sound performance appraisal system with appropriate
incentives. In particular, the Group promotes career development and
advancement by providing appropriate training and opportunities in order
to enhance the employees’ work performance.

Customers

The Group’s major customers include construction work companies engaged
in public and/or private construction projects in Hong Kong. The Group has
established long-term business relationship with these customers for many
years and committed to offer quality service to meet their requirement. The
Group endeavours to maintain contacts with these customers regularly in
order to understand their needs and provide required service to support
their businesses.

Sub-contractors and Suppliers

The Group has developed a long-standing relationship with a number
of sub-contractors and suppliers and the Group has always been
communicating closely with them to ensure that there will be good quality
and sustainable goods and services provided to the Group. When selecting
sub-contractors and suppliers, the Group often requires them to satisfy
certain criteria such as experience and capability, financial strength, track
record, and reputation.

Share Capital

Details of movements during the Year in the share capital of the Company
are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

Reserves
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 91 of this
annual report.
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Distributable Reserves

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had distributable reserves
amounted to approximately HK$66.3 million (2020: HK$66.3 million).

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save and except for the Share Option Scheme disclosed below, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into by the Company during the Year or
subsisted at the end of the Year.

Share Option Scheme

The share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 22 July 2019
(the “Share Option Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme was approved
by written resolutions of the Shareholders and as approved by the listing
committee of the Stock Exchange which is valid and effective for a period of
ten years commencing on 22 July 2019. A summary of the principal terms
of the Share Option Scheme is set out as follows:

(1) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives
or rewards to participants for their contribution to the Group and/
or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees
and attract human resources that are valuable to the Group and any
Invested Entity.

2) Participants of the Share Option Scheme
The Board may, as its discretion, offer to grant an option to any
director, employee (full-time and part-time), supplier, customer,
advisor, contractor, agent, business partner or service providers of the
Group.

(3) Total number of Shares available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme
Pursuant to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and in
compliance with the provisions in Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules,
the maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and all share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed
260,000,000 Shares, being 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date
of this annual report.
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(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

Maximum entitlement of each Participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted under the Share Option
Scheme to eligible participants in any 12 months period up to the
date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue as at the
date of grant, any further grant of options in excess of this 1% limit
shall be subject to the approval of Shareholders in a general meeting.

Period within which the securities must be
taken up under an option

A share option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme at any time during the period to be
determined and notified by the Board to the participant at the time
of making an offer for the grant of share option. Such period shall
not be more than ten years from the date upon which the option is
deemed to be granted and accepted.

Payment on acceptance of option offer

An offer of the grant of a share option shall be accepted by the
eligible participants within a period of 21 days from the date of offer
of grant of share option. The consideration paid by each grantee for
the acceptance and grant of each share option is HK$1.00, which
has to be paid within 21 days.

Basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not be less than the
highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of grant, which must
be a trading date; (i) the average of the closing prices of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
trading dates immediately preceding the date of grant; or (jii) the
nominal value of a Share.

Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme was 260,000,000
Shares, being 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of this
annual report, and the remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
was about 7 years and 4 months.

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)
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Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no option has been
granted. Therefore, no option was exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the
Year and there was no option outstanding as at 31 December 2021.

Directors

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam
Mr. Ng Sheung Chung

Mr. Ma Kan Sun

Non-executive Director
Mr. Chong Kan Kin (Resigned on 1 August 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung

Mr. Lo Chi Hung

Mr. Pak Shek Kuen

In accordance with article 108 of the Company’s articles of association (the
“Articles”), one-third of the Directors will retire by rotation and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, provided that every Director shall retire at least once every
three years. Accordingly, Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam and Mr. Ho Kwok
Lung will retire from office as Directors at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

The Directors’ biographical details are set out in the section headed
"Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management” in this annual

report.

Information regarding Directors’ emoluments is set out in note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report. Annual confirmation
of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules has been
received from each of the independent non-executive Directors. The Group
considers all independent non-executive Directors to be independent under
the Listing Rules.
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Directors’ Service Contract

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date,
unless terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other.

All of the independent non-executive Directors have respectively entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of one year
unless terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing served by
either party on the other.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in
compliance with code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code. It is the policy of
the Company, in considering the payments of dividends and to allow
Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst retaining
adequate reserves for future growth of the Group.

Under the Dividend Policy, in deciding whether to propose a dividend and in
determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into account, inter
alia:

o the general financial condition of the Group;

o capital and debt level of the Group;

o future cash requirements and availability for business operations,
business strategies and future development needs;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the
Group's lenders;

° the general market conditions; and

o any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
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The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and any other
applicable laws, rule and regulations and the Articles. The Policy will be
reviewed by the Board from time to time and there can be no assurance
that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific periods.

Management Contracts

During the Year, no contract, other than employment contracts, concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the Company’s business was entered into or existed.

Directors’ Emoluments and Five Highest Paid
Individuals

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

During the Year, (i) there was no early termination of appointment of
Directors, and accordingly, no termination benefit was provided to or
receivable by any Director; (i) no consideration was provided to or receivable
by third parties for making available Directors’ services; and (iii) save as
disclosed in this annual report, there were no loans, quasi-loans or other
dealings in favour of Directors, their controlled bodies corporate and
connected entities, and the Company’s holding company. No significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year ended
31 December 2021 or at any time during the Year.

Directors’/Controlling Shareholders’ Material
Interests in Transactions, Arrangements and
Contracts that are Significant in Relation to
the Group'’s Business

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to
the Group’s business to which any of the Company, its subsidiaries, fellow
subsidiaries or its parent companies was a party and in which a Director, an
entity connected with a Director, a controlling shareholder of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.
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Competing Interests

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of the Directors, the
controlling shareholders of the Company or any of their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) that compete or may compete,
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group and any other conflicts
of interest which any such person has or may have with the Group and is
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules during
the Year and up to date of this annual report.

Non-Competition Undertaking

Each of the controlling Shareholders has made an annual declaration to
the Company that during the Year and up to date of this annual report, he/
it has complied with the terms of non-competition undertakings (“Non-
Competition Undertakings”) given in favour of the Company. The
independent non-executive Directors have also reviewed the status of
compliance by each of the controlling Shareholders with the undertakings
stipulated in the Non-Competition Undertakings and have confirmed that,
as far as the independent non-executive Directors can ascertain, there is no
breach of any of such undertakings.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage for
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising from corporate activities.

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in
or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their
respective offices, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through
their own fraud or dishonesty.
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Updated Information of Directors

The emoluments of the Directors are subject to regular review of the Board
and the Remuneration Committee based on factors such as the Group’s
financial performance and the Directors’ individual performance and
abilities. In January 2021, having considered the pressing need to optimise
financial resources of the Group at a time of economic uncertainty, the
Board decided, upon recommendation of the Remuneration Committee,
that the directors’ fee of the following Directors be adjusted as follows:

Report of the Directors
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FRESZENEH

EENFMAREFE RFMES G RESTE
B ERE - EEEARRRENSARTH
BEf o KRB —F— A BRELETEE
WA TECARERHERNANTE - 3
FLRBHHERENRBER  REETSI
EENEFBARLEMT

Director Fees per annum (HK$)
- FZFEHH (Fr)
Mr. Pak Shek Kuen RS A 96,000
Mr. Lo Chi Hung EEELE 96,000
Save as disclosed in this annual report, there are no other updates to ~ BRI AFRATIHFEIN  WEHMBBEBHREENE

the information of the Directors that are required to be disclosed herein
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures of the Company and its
Associated Corporations

As at 31 December 2021, interests and short positions in the Shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) held by the Directors and chief executive
of the Company which have been notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or have been
entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, or otherwise have been notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules are as follows:
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() Long position in the Shares (i) REROBNEFE
Capacity/Nature Percentage of
Name of Director of interest Number of Shares shareholding
EENSE B1ip REEME R EE BET DL
Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam Interest in a controlled 1,950,000,000 75%
(“Mr. Adam Cheung”) corporation
(Note)
SREDE ([FREE D (FIFE) R AR
Note: ~ 1,950,000,000 Shares are held by Wonderful Renown Limited (“Wonderful s :  1,950,000,000 % A% 15 £ Wonderful Renown
Renown") which is beneficially owned as to 84% by Mr. Adam Cheung and 16% Limited ([ Wonderful Renown|) # &+ M
by Ms. Cheung Lai Chun (“Ms. LC Cheung"”). By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Adam Wonderful Renown %3 Bl B3R 55 & KSR &
Cheung is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Wonderful Renown. T((REZE D EEEES4% R 16% © RiE
Mr. Adam Cheung is the brother of Ms. LC Cheung. wBHKEAEED - 3R EEHAR AR Wonderful
Renown 8 2 FTBRM P HEA R - RiEE
BRZLZHH -
(i) Long position in the ordinary shares of (i) AEBEIEEBERNTE
associated corporation
Name of Capacity/ Number of
associated Nature share(s) held/ Percentage
Name of Director corporation of interest interested of interest
¥ HERER
EEHE B EEERE B REmME W E B EZED
Mr. Adam Cheung (Note) Wonderful Renown Beneficial owner 84 84%
RS (BsE) EmEEA
Note: ~ Wonderful Renown is the direct Shareholder and is an associated corporation ff5E © Wonderful Renown % B # 1% 5 & ARES % (8
within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. EREFRPEKOIEXVER) »

Except as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief executive of B EXCPTIREE N IARFREE - BEEAR
the Company had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying RIEFHEZITHA BRAA RISCH F AT AEH
Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations ~ A® (F&E RES M EEIEHIE XV 36) LD
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as at the date of this annual BRERR DS EREE P EE M EEREE SR
report as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of ~ HAE 5§55 352 1§77 B M B R M ac s s iR B 42
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 57 BIIZE B1TH1€ AR 7] K B 35 AT AV RE 25 58004
under the Model Code.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in the
Shares and Underlying Shares

As at 31 December 2021, so far as it is known by or otherwise notified
by any Director or the chief executive of the Company, the particulars of
the corporations or individuals (other than a Director or chief executive
of the Company) who had or were deemed or taken to have an interest
or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in the Company:

Capacity/Nature
Name of Shareholder of interest
BREBE, BB 51 RmtE
Wonderful Renown Beneficial Owner (Note 1)
EmmEa A M
Ms. LC Cheung Interests held jointly with
other persons (Note 2)
Rkt BE A A T HREF AR (FiFE2)
Ms. Chan Shui King Interest of a spouse (Note 3)
PRImEIR 2T 4 foiBiE s (FzE3)
Note:
1. Wonderful Renown is a direct Shareholder. Wonderful Renown is owned as to 84%

by Mr. Adam Cheung and 16% by Ms. LC Cheung. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Adam
Cheung is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Wonderful Renown. Mr.
Adam Cheung is the brother of Ms. LC Cheung.

2. Mr. Adam Cheung, Ms. LC Cheung and Wonderful Renown are parties acting in concert
(having the meaning as ascribed thereto in the Takeovers Code) pursuant to the deed of
confirmation and undertaking dated 21 February 2019. As such, Mr. Adam Cheung, Ms.
LC Cheung and Wonderful Renown will together control 75% of the entire issued share
capital of the Company. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. LC Cheung is deemed to be interested
in the Shares held by Wonderful Renown.

3. Ms. Chan Shui King is the spouse of Mr. Adam Cheung. Accordingly, Ms. Chan Shui

King is deemed or taken to be interested in the Shares held by Mr. Adam Cheung is
interested in under the SFO.
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Number of Shares
held/interested Percentage of
(long position) shareholding

Fiis BERERD
ROBE (5F&) REB DL

1,950,000,000 75%

1,950,000,000 75%

1,950,000,000 75%

GEE
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Company had
not been notified by any persons who had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Listed
Securities of the Company

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

Arrangements to Acquire Shares or Debentures
At no time during the Year and up to the date of this annual report was the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or
debentures of the Company or any body corporate.

Major Customers, Subcontractors and
Suppliers

The approximate percentages of the Group’s revenue and cost of services
attributable to major customers, subcontractors and suppliers during the
Year and year ended 31 December 2020 are as follows:

Approximate % of total revenue:

from the largest customer BAREPht
from the five largest customers in aggregate ~ AAEFS A& H(ht

Approximate % of total cost of services

incurred: MAOBAD
from the largest cost of services SRR AIGLL
from the five largest cost of services AR AE G

in aggregate

BREXFIEEEN RZE-_—F+_A
=+—8  RARFAME  BECHATE
KA FAEERDFEEIZELFRAER
BIEEXVEDE 2 REIDEIEXARARRIEE
BmSAR - HIRBEFESH KBS KGIE 33615
BT NRARFENB MRS ERS AR -

BE - HEIBELEARAT LHES

RARFEE - ARAREEMKE QR ERE
B HEHBLEIAARRR] LHES

R n R ERERE 2L
RAFERBEAFRAY - ARATHEM
B 2 RV AT ST 22 BB 5 2 3 7 0
AR AR ATk A BB IR K T
A o

TEEF - 2EBRHER

AEFBFERF  DORANMEEERAEE X
BE-_Z-_ZTF+__A=1+—BI-FEEEDN
Yo ek MBRFERR AN B O EL a0 T

Year ended
31 December 2020

Year ended
31 December 2021

AT BBEGRBREOBAB L |

AN BRI EEEREK A EFRE

BE-ZT-—F BE-ZT_THF
+=B=+—H +=A=+—AH
ILFE IEFE
51.7 40.3
98.6 95.4
26.3 20.7
69.2 471
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None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors who owned more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had any interest in the five largest customers nor
suppliers during the Year.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws
of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

Related Party Transactions

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the Year are set
out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report. All of the Group’s related party transactions are fully exempted from
the independent Shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure
requirements pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

After the Listing Date, Pak Fai, as tenant, and Mr. Adam Cheung, as
landlord, entered into a tenancy agreement dated 1 September 2019 (the
“Tenancy Agreement |”), for the rental of a property located at Room 5,
14/F, Hang Bong Commercial Centre, 28 Shanghai Street, Jordan, Kowloon,
Hong Kong with an aggregate floor area of approximately 301 square feet
which is used as an office. The term of the tenancy is from 1 September
2019 to 28 February 2020, with a rental of HK$12,040 per month (exclusive
of management fee and air-conditioning charges) payable in advance. The
tenancy was not renewed upon expiry.

During the Year, Pak Fai, as tenant, and Ma Do Success Limited (a company
owned by Mr. Adam Cheung, Ms. LC Cheung, Mr. Ma Kan Sun and his
elder sister as to 40%, 30%, 15% and 15%, respectively), as landlord,
entered into a tenancy agreement dated 10 June 2020 (the “Tenancy
Agreement I1"), for the rental of a property located at Room 10, 2/F, Hang
Bong Commercial Centre, 28 Shanghai Street, Jordan, Kowloon, Hong
Kong with an aggregate floor area of approximately 377 square feet which
is used as an office. The tenancy has been renewed and the latest renewal
was on 1 January 2021 for a period of one year from 1 January 2021, with
a rental of HK$14,055 per month (exclusive of management fee and air-
conditioning charges) payable in advance.
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The tenancies disclosed above constitute continuing connected transactions
of the Group under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The rent payable
under the Tenancy Agreement | and Tenancy Agreement Il was determined
after arm’s length negotiations between the parties thereto with reference
to the market rent payable for comparable premises and is in line with the
market level.

Further details of other continuing connected transactions of the Group are
set out in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.

Since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report, the
Company has complied with the applicable disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in relation to any connected transactions
and continuing connected transactions.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirmed that the
Company has maintained a sufficient amount of public float for the Shares
as required under the Listing Rules during the Year and up to the date of
this annual report.

Events After the Reporting Period

On 28 January 2022, Pak Fai and an independent third party entered into
a sale and purchase agreement pursuant to which Pak Fai transferred its
property located at Room 605, 6th Floor, Fashion Centre, 51-53 Wing Hong
Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong to that independent third
party for a consideration of HK$4,080,000. The transaction was completed
on 15 March 2022.

Other than disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, there was no
significant subsequent event after 31 December 2021 and up to the date of
this annual report.

Risks and Uncertainties

The Group's results of operation may vary significantly from time to
time depending on, among other factors, the political and economic
environment, level of competitiveness, the quality of service and timeliness
of subcontractors, and the adequacy and efficiency of internal processes
implemented by staff and systems. The Group believes that there are certain
risks and uncertainties involved both in the markets and in the operations
which can be summarised as below.
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Operational Risks

Due to unexpected circumstances such as bad weather and geological
issues, the actual time and costs incurred in construction projects may
exceed the Group’s estimation at the time of tendering submission and
the work in progress may be interrupted. As a result, such variation could
adversely affect the Group’s operations and financial results. In such
situations, the Group will implement measures such as re-allocating human
resources and recruiting additional manpower including subcontracting the
works in order to expedite the work progress.

On the other hand, it is inevitable that there could be chance of industrial
accidents happened. In order to minimise the rate of accidents, the
Group has already recruited sufficient safety officers to regularly monitor
the work environment, implementation of safety rules and regulations
and establishing safety policies. In addition, the Group also appointed a
registered safety auditor to conduct corporate safety audit semi-annually to
maximise the effectiveness of safety management.

It is quite common in the construction industry that collection of receivables
takes longer time and it may lead to late settlement by customers especially
at the times of unexpected crises due to political and economic factors. To
mitigate the pressure of financial liquidity, the Group produces aging analysis
on regular basis and contacts the management level of the customers so as
to get a better understanding of their solvency status.

Market Risks

Due to the construction industry in Hong Kong is dominantly subject to
Government's large-scale infrastructure projects and such projects would
require prolonged process of legislative approval, it is more passive toward
the future’s prospect of the industry. Nevertheless, the Group will not just
rely on participating in projects from public sector but the Group will also be
more involved in projects from the private sectors.

In the meantime, demand of residential and commercial buildings has been
growing continuously. The Group perceived that such demand will sustain
the booming in the construction industry and attract more competitive
entrants to the industry. In order to grip holding of the market shares, the
Group acquired new machineries to cope with the demand. With its in-
depth experience and knowledge in the field, the Group is capable to
continue providing one-stop construction machinery service to meet the
needs of various customers.
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Tax Relief

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares. If the Shareholders
are unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing
of, dealing in or exercising of any rights in relation to the Shares, they are
advised to consult their professional advisers.

Independent Auditors

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year have
been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“"HLB"), which
will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. Having been approved by the Board
upon recommendation of audit committee of the Company (”Audit
Committee”), a resolution to re-appoint HLB as the independent auditors
of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration will
be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Corporate Governance Code

The Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions as set
out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report except for the deviation from code provision A.2.1 (note) of
the CG Code as explained in the Corporate Governance Report.

Note:  With effect from 1 January 2022, code provision A.2.1 has been re-designated as code
provision C.2.1.

The details of the Group’s compliance with the CG Code are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report from pages 36 to 49 of this annual report.
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Environmental Policy

Sustainability is one of the key factors to the Group’s development, as
well as for the viability of its business and the welfare of the community.
The Group is committed to offering premium products and services to
obtain customer satisfaction all round. In recent years, the Group has
been looking for ways to minimise the adverse impact of its businesses
on the environment (i.e. air and noise pollution) by improving operational
efficiencies and implementing eco-friendly measures. The Group will
continue to strive for energy-saving and environmental-friendly equipment
and materials for its construction projects. The Group will regularly review
related policy to promote awareness and practices on resource usage
reduction, waste reduction and energy conservation, and be more active in
involving various community programmes and contributing to the society.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, as far as the Directors and senior
management of the Company are aware, the Group has complied in
all material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operations of the Group during the
Year.

On behalf of the Board
Cheung Kwok Fai Adam
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 28 March 2022
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Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management

SEE=NENREEERE

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam (RE#E) (formerly known as
Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai (5REJ##)), aged 62, is the chairman of the Board,
the chief executive officer of the Company, an executive Director and
one of the controlling shareholders of the Company (the “Controlling
Shareholders”). He was appointed as a Director on 30 January 2019 and
was re-designated as an executive Director and appointed as chairman of
the Board and chief executive officer of the Company on 22 July 2019. He
is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee. He is responsible for the
overall management and overseeing and monitoring of the projects of the
Group.

Mr. Adam Cheung has over 31 years of experience in the construction
industry. He joined the Group in April 1990 when he started working as
a manager at Pak Fai. He has been a director of Pak Fai and Ma Yau since
December 1992 and April 1997 respectively.

Mr. Adam Cheung is the uncle of Mr. Ng Sheung Chung, an executive
Director, the uncle of Mr. Ma Kan Sun, an executive Director, and the
brother of Ms. LC Cheung, one of the Controlling Shareholders.

Mr. Ng Sheung Chung (fHi& %) (“Mr. Ng”), aged 47, is an executive
Director. He was appointed as a Director on 30 January 2019 and was re-
designated as an executive Director on 22 July 2019. He is responsible for
the overall management and business development of the Group.

Mr. Ng obtained a Higher Diploma in Computer Engineering (With Credit)
from the Hong Kong Technical Colleges in June 1997.

Mr. Ng has over 20 years of experience in the construction industry. Since
June 2001, he has been working at Pak Fai and his major job duties are
review of contracts, material lists and price lists and assist the company in
preliminary project cost estimations. Since January 2010, he has also been
working at Ma Yau as a manager. Since September 2011, he has been a
director of both Pak Fai and Ma Yau.

Mr. Ng is the nephew of Mr. Adam Cheung, an executive Director and one
of the Controlling Shareholders, the cousin of Mr. Ma Kan Sun, an executive
Director, and the nephew of Ms. LC Cheung, one of the Controlling
Shareholders.

HITES

3R B ¥ 5% 4 (3324 Cheung Kwok Fai Adam -
® 4 Cheung Kwok Fai) * 625% ' AEEEE
&~ RATIMITHAE - TEEREF—F
RARERR ([ERRR]) - FRR-ZZ—1
F-A=-+THEZERESE  UR-_T—IF
tAZTZERAERTESREZTRESS
FRERARABTHAH - BITAREEZE®T
& BBEASENEEEENEEEERE

o

REERBETERBAINFLER BN
—NMNZEFEEAMALREER - HYIREREE
FLEE—B - BoR— WA ZF+ZA K
—NNEFHARHIEERSRNES -

RAERAEBEE(MITES) KERALE
(MITEFR) 2BRXRRLL (AP —BIERK
R)ZHH e

HEBEE(HEE]D 475 ARTES -
BR—_E—-NE—A=+BEEZEAESE I
R_E-—NFELA-+_AATAERITES -
FEEASENEREEREBEE -

MEER—NNEFRNARGEEELEEME

R TR (BB) A -

hAERBETEEEA205&R - KE-F
T-FRAEREEER  EX2TERER
EHAK  MEBERERBE  WHBHAR
MSEFEERARN - BT —FF— A K
TREREEFLKE -BE_T——FhAR &
—HREEEELSRNES -

hEERREE(MITEFTRER —REBRRK

R)ZE - BREBELEE(MITES) 2R AN
SRR (B — BRI R ) 2 M

Hands Form Holdings Limited « Annual Report 2021
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Mr. Ma Kan Sun (EBH) ("Mr. Ma”), aged 41, is an executive Director.
He was appointed as a Director on 30 January 2019 and was redesignated
as an executive Director on 22 July 2019. He is responsible for the overall
project management, administrative matters and safety management of the
Group.

Mr. Ma completed the Safety & Health Supervisor Training Course
(Construction Industry) in August 2012. Since then, he has supervised the
Safety Department and is also responsible for the safety management
system of the Group. Mr. Ma received secondary education in Canada.

Mr. Ma first joined the Group when he was employed by Pak Fai as a
site foreman from May 2002 to June 2004. After pursuing other career
opportunities, he returned to Pak Fai as an office manager in March 2011.
He has been a director of Pak Fai and Ma Yau since March 2017 and
September 2011 respectively.

Mr. Ma is the nephew of Mr. Adam Cheung, an executive Director and one
of the Controlling Shareholders, the cousin of Mr. Ng Sheung Chung, an
executive Director, and the son of Ms. LC Cheung, one of the Controlling
Shareholders.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Pak Shek Kuen (B %3#€) (“Mr. Pak”), aged 63, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 21 July 2019. He is also the
chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member of the Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. He is primarily responsible for
providing independent judgment to bear on issues of strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, resource, key appoints and standard of conduct
of the Group.

Mr. Pak obtained a Master of Business Administration from City University
of Hong Kong in November 1995. He further obtained a Master of Science
in Electronic Commerce and Internet Computing from The University of
Hong Kong in December 2003. Mr. Pak has been an associate of The Hong
Kong Society of Accountants (currently known as the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants) since April 1988. He was admitted an
associate of The Chartered Association of Certified Accountants in July 1988
and further admitted a fellow of The Chartered Association of Certified
Accountants in July 1993.
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EENSAEEERE

Mr. Pak has over 41 years of experience in the fields of internal audit,
treasury, risk management and business management.

Mr. Lo Chi Hung (E&#) (“Mr. Lo”), aged 56, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 21 July 2019. He is the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee, and also a member of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee. He is primarily responsible for providing
independent judgment to bear on issues of strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resource, key appoints and standard of conduct of the
Group.

Mr. Lo obtained a Bachelor of Laws from Staffordshire University, United
Kingdom in July 1996 and a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from The
University of Hong Kong in September 1999. He was admitted as a solicitor
of the High Court of Hong Kong in February 2002 and is a member of the
Law Society of Hong Kong.

Mr. Lo has over 19 years of experience in the legal profession. Since
admission of solicitors in February 2002, Mr. Lo has worked at various Hong
Kong solicitors’ firms, including David Y.Y. Fung & Co., Solicitors where he
was an assistant solicitor from February 2002 to May 2004, and Christopher
Li & Co., Solicitors where he was an assistant solicitor from June 2005 to
February 2008. From March 2009, he has been working at Patrick Mak &
Tse, a solicitors’ firm, where he is currently a consultant.

Mr. Ho Kwok Lung (f1EI%E) (“Mr. Ho"), aged 41, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 21 July 2019. He is a member of
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. He is primarily responsible for providing independent judgment
to bear on issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resource,
key appoints and standard of conduct of the Group.

Mr. Ho obtained a Professional Diploma in Construction Project
Management from The University of Hong Kong School of Professional
and Continuing Education in July 2005 and a Bachelor of Applied Science
(Construction Management and Economics) from Curtin University of
Technology in Australia in February 2008.
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Mr. Ho has over 21 years of experience in the construction industry. He
has worked at various construction contractors in Hong Kong, including
Gammon Construction Limited where his last position was construction
supervisor from August 2000 to May 2008, Kin Sum Construction Company
Limited where he was a site engineer from December 2010 to February
2014, New City Construction Company Limited as a site agent from March
2014 to December 2015, and Chi Sum Engineering Limited as an assistant
project manager and director since January 2016.

Financial Controller and Company Secretary

Mr. Tsui Chun Hung (%) (“Mr. Tsui”), aged 34, is our financial
controller and company secretary. He was appointed as the financial
controller and company secretary (“Company Secretary”) of the Company
on 30 January 2019. He is responsible for overseeing the Group’s finance
and accounts function and internal controls, and providing financial and
business advice to the Board and senior management of the Group.

Mr. Tsui obtained a Bachelor of Arts with First Class Honours in Accounting
from Edinburgh Napier University in the United Kingdom in February 2012.
Mr. Tsui has been a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants since March 2014.

Mr. Tsui has over 13 years of experience in the fields of accounting and
auditing. He worked in Shinewing (HK) CPA Limited where his last position
was assistant audit manager from July 2012 to August 2015. He worked as
an assistant financial controller in Deson Development Limited, a subsidiary
of Smart City Development Holdings Limited (formerly known as “Deson
Construction International Holdings Limited”) (a company listed on the
Stock Exchange with stock code 8268), from August 2015 to September
2018. He joined the Group in September 2018 when he started working for
Pak Fai as its financial controller.
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The Company strives to attain and maintain a high standard of corporate
governance as it believes that effective corporate governance practices are
fundamental to enhancing shareholders’ value and safeguarding interests
of shareholders and other stakeholders. Accordingly, the Board attributes
a high priority to identifying and implementing appropriate corporate
governance practices to ensure transparency, accountability and effective
internal controls.

Code on Corporate Governance Practices

The Company has adopted the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. During the Year and up to the date of this annual report,
the Company has complied with the code provisions under the CG Code,
except for the deviation from code provision A.2.1 (note) of the CG Code
as explained below. The Company will continue to enhance its corporate
governance practices appropriate to the operation and growth of the
business of the Group.

According to code provision A.2.1 (note) of the CG Code, the role of the
chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. During the Year and
up to the date of this annual report, the role of the chairman and the chief
executive officer of the Company are both performed by Mr. Adam Cheung.
In view of Mr. Adam Cheung’s role in the day-to-day management and
operations of the Group, being one of the controlling shareholders of the
Group and as one of the Directors if not the sole director of other members
of the Group, as at the date of this annual report, the Board believes that it
is more effective and efficient overall business planning and implementation
of business decisions and strategies of the Group that it shall be in the best
interests of the Group for Mr. Adam Cheung to take up the dual roles of
chairman and chief executive officer of the Company. Therefore, the Board
considers that the deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code
is appropriate in such circumstance and that there are sufficient checks
and balances in place by the operations of the Board, which comprises
experienced and high calibre individuals and adequate independent element
in the composition of the Board.

Note:  With effect from 1 January 2022, code provision A.2.1 has been re-designated as code

provision C.2.1.
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The Board will continue to review and consider splitting the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer of the Company at a time when it is
appropriate and suitable by taking into account the circumstances of the
Group as a whole. The Directors are aware that the Company is expected
to comply with the CG Code. Any deviation from the CG Code should be
carefully considered and disclosed in the interim and annual report. Save as
disclosed above, the Company will continue to comply with the CG Code to
protect the best interests of the shareholders.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the transactions of
securities of the Company by the Directors and the relevant employees (who
likely possess inside information of the Company) (the “Securities Dealing
Code”) on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. All Directors
have confirmed, following specific enquiries by the Company, that they fully
complied with the Model Code and the Securities Dealing Code throughout
the Year to the date of this annual report.

Board of Directors

The Board is responsible for formulating business strategies and monitoring
the performance of the business of the Group. Other than the daily
operational decisions which are delegated to the management of the
Group, most of the decisions are made by the Board. All Directors, including
independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of
valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board
for its efficient and effective functioning.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules during the Year. As at the date of this annual report, The Board is
comprises of six members, including three executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors.
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As at the date of this annual report, the composition of the Board is as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ng Sheung Chung

Mr. Ma Kan Sun

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung

Mr. Lo Chi Hung

Mr. Pak Shek Kuen

Biographical details of each Director and relationship between board
members are set out on pages 32 to 35 of this annual report.

The Company has signed a letter of appointment with each of the
independent non-executive Directors upon their appointment respectively.
The principal particulars of these appointment letters are (a) each of them
agreed to act for an initial term of one year commencing from the Listing
Date with a director’s fee, which may be terminated by not less than one
month” written notice served by either party on the other, and (b) is subject
to termination provisions therein and provisions on retirement by rotation of
Directors as set out in the Articles.

Pursuant to article 108(a) of the Articles, one-third of the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting and every
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every 3 years.
However, a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent
non-executive Directors. The Company is of the view that all independent
non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms
of the guidelines during the Year and up to the date of this annual report.
The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
One of the independent non-executive Directors possesses the appropriate
professional accounting qualifications and financial management expertise.
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During the Year, four Board meetings and one annual general meeting
were held and the attendance record of each Director is set out in the table

/\\ //\—h-\

PEEBWRE

RAFEE  ARRBRTORESTEEZ N —KX
BRRBEFRE  SEFHENREHN K

below:
Attendance/Number
of Meeting
HERE EERE
Board Annual General

Directors Meeting Meeting
55 By BREBFRE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam o B 5 A 4/4 11

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (F/EFITHABZ)
Mr. Ng Sheung Chung h iR & 4/4 1/1
Mr. Ma Kan Sun B SAE 4/4 1/
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. Chong Kan Kin ﬁ%}ﬁj‘ﬁi

(Resigned on 1 August 2021) (RZZ2=_—F/\A—HEHE) 2/4 1/1
Independent non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung Il SR 4 4/4 1/1
Mr. Lo Chi Hung EEERE 4/4 1/1
Mr. Pak Shek Kuen BT E 4/4 1/
Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and related SEFERRMEST X RBEAME - TFA]

ﬂﬁiﬁxj%’zih /\ui&ﬁ&% IT EEE:‘%

materials, and the advice and services of the Company Secretary, and
has the liberty to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s
expense if so reasonably required. Directors will be continuously updated on
the major development of the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate
governance practices. The Company expects to convene at least four regular
Board meetings in each financial year at approximately quarterly intervals in
accordance with code provision A.1.1 (note) of the CG Code.

Note:  With effect from 1 January 2022, code provision A.1.1 has been re-designated as code
provision C.5.1.
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Continuous Professional Development

The Company encourages the Directors to attend any relevant programme
to further enhance their knowledge so as to enable them to discharge
their duties and responsibilities more effectively. Prior to their appointment,
all Directors have been given relevant guideline materials and attended a
training regarding the duties and responsibilities of being a Director, the
CG Code, the Listing Rules and applicable laws and regulations and duty of
disclosure of interest. Continuing briefings and professional development to
Directors will be arranged from time to time.

All Directors have provided record of their training by way of reviewing
materials relating to their duties under the Listing Rules and the Company
will continue to arrange and fund the training in accordance with the CG
Code provisions.

Board Committees

The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit Committee,
the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and the
Remuneration Committee. The table below provides the membership
information of these committees on which certain Board members served:

HEERER

ARATSMES HE AL~ HREELOH
POARRIRIE - A E AR ETERE R
B BRI - A SOBRAREY
MR URSIMERS AEFHREMNEET -

RERTR - EMRARERARER K E
SR ERE ARSI - EENFHEGERLE

RRRAGTRETLHE -

ERESCRHEEBBEMN LETRAIBET AR
HBE M ERIFIINEE: - ARR I #EER
BEEERTANRZH R AEIEE -

EXREE

ExgCRIU-MAZRES  HEKZEE 1R
2ZER([REEEE ) NFHEZEE - TX
RUEEZELRESRIRUNETEETSNE
ZREERY

Audit Nomination Remuneration
Directors Committee Committee Committee
E= EREER REZEEE FMHZEEE
Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam o B & 5 A - C -
Mr. Pak Shek Kuen HisELE C M M
Mr. Lo Chi Hung EARESE M M C
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung fAIBIEE ST A M M M
Notes: MIEE
C — Chairman of the relevant Committee C-EBZEEER
M — Member of the relevant Committee M- fHZEEKE
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Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 22 July 2019 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules
and paragraph C.3.3 (note) of the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee include, among others, (a) making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditors and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditors; (b) reviewing the Company’s financial statements, the
annual report and accounts and the half-year report and significant financial
reporting judgments contained therein; and (c) reviewing the Company’s
financial controls, internal control and risk management systems. As at
the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Pak Shek Kuen, Mr. Ho
Kwok Lung and Mr. Lo Chi Hung. Mr. Pak Shek Kuen is the chairman of the
Audit Committee.

During the Year, the Audit Committee has held two meetings to review the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and the financial
results for the six months ended 30 June 2021 and the year ended 31
December 2020. The individual attendance record of each member at the
meeting of Audit Committee is set out below:

Name of member of the Audit Committee

EREESREEE

Mr. Pak Shek Kuen SEL e
Mr. Lo Chi Hung EEESE
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung Il SR 4

Note:  With effect from 1 January 2022, code provision C.3.3 has been re-designated as code
provision D.3.3.
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Number of

Audit Committee Meeting
RE BREESERNRE

2/2
2/2
2/2
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Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 22 July 2019 with
written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph A.5.2 (note) of the
CG Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include, among
others, (a) reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and making
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement
the corporate strategy; (b) identifying individuals suitably qualified to
become members of the Board and selecting or making recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; (c)
assessing the independence of the independent non-executive Directors;
(d) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of and succession planning for the Directors; (e) reviewing the
board diversity policy of the Company (“Board Diversity Policy”); and (f)
developing and reviewing, as appropriate, the policy for the nomination of
Directors. As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Pak Shek
Kuen, Mr. Lo Chi Hung and Mr. Ho Kwok Lung and one executive Director,
namely Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam. Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held two meetings and the
attendance record of each Director is set out in the table below:

Name of member of
the Nomination Committee

REZEGRENRA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam o B 5 A

Mr. Pak Shek Kuen B R E

Mr. Lo Chi Hung EASESE

Mr. Ho Kwok Lung fAIBIBE ST A

Mr. Chong Kan Kin EHiEkE
(Resigned on 1 August 2021) (R=ZT=—

Note:  With effect from 1 January 2022, code provision A.5.2 has been re-designated as code
provision B.3.1.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out the
approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced development of the
Company and also to enhance the quality of performance of the Company.
In designing the Board’s composition, the Board has been considering from
a number of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills,
and knowledge. The ultimate decision is based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy from time
to time to ensure its continued effectiveness and monitor its implementation
by conducting review of the Board's composition at least once annually.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
for the purpose to identify and evaluate a candidate for nomination to the
Board for appointment or to the shareholders for election as a Director. The
Nomination Committee shall consider, among others, the following criteria
in evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships:

o Reputation for integrity;

o Accomplishment, experience and reputation in the relevant industry
and other relevant sectors;

° Commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and attention to
the Company’s business;

o Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, experience (professional or
otherwise), skills and knowledge;

o The ability to assist and support management and make significant
contributions to the Company’s success;

o Compliance with the criteria of independence as prescribed under
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the appointment of an independent
non-executive Director; and

o Any other relevant factors as may be determined by the Committee
or the Board from time to time.
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Each proposed new appointment, election or re-election of a Director shall
be assessed and/or considered against the criteria and qualifications set
out in the Nomination Policy by the Nomination Committee which shall
recommend its views to the Board and/or the shareholders for consideration

and determination.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 22 July 2019
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.26 of the Listing
Rules and paragraph B.1.2 (note) of the CG Code. The primary duties of
the Remuneration Committee, under the principle that no Director or any
of his associates should be involved in deciding his own remuneration
include, among others, making recommendations to the Board on (a)
the remuneration policy and structure for all of the Directors and senior
management; (b) the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing remuneration policies; (c) the remuneration packages of
the executive Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their offices or appointments; and (d) the
remuneration of the non-executive Directors. As at the date of this annual
report, the Remuneration Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Lo Chi Hung, Mr. Pak Shek Kuen and Mr.
Ho Kwok Lung. Mr. Lo Chi Hung is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

During the Year, two meetings were held and the attendance record of each
Director is set out in the table below:

Name of member of
the Remuneration Committee

FHEESEREME

Mr. Pak Shek Kuen AL

Mr. Lo Chi Hung EEERE

Mr. Ho Kwok Lung Bk

Mr. Chong Kan Kin EHiEkaE
(Resigned on 1 August 2021) (R=ZZT=—

Note:  With effect from 1 January 2022, code provision B.1.2 has been re-designated as code
provision E.1.2.

Full details of remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid
employees are provided in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report.
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Company Secretary

Mr. Tsui Chun Hung, was appointed as the Company Secretary on 30
January 2019. Please refer to the section “Biographies of Directors and
Senior Management” for his biographical information. During the Year,
Mr. Tsui Chun Hung has undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in accordance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for
the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for overseeing the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the Year, which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Group on a going concern basis and are in compliance with the relevant
accounting standard and principles, applicable laws and disclosure provisions
of the Listing Rules. The Directors aim to present a clear and understandable
assessment of the Group’s financial position and prospects. The Board is
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The responsibilities of the external auditors with respect to the financial
reporting are set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report of this annual
report.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

One of the major functions of the Board is to maintain an adequate risk
management and internal control systems to safeqguard shareholders’
investments and the Group’s assets, and review their effectiveness annually
through the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee reports to the Board
on any material issues and makes recommendations to the Board.

Policies and procedures have been designed to safeguard assets against
unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for
internal use or for publication, and ensure compliance with applicable law,
rules and regulations. The policies and procedures provide a reasonable
assurance that material misstatements or losses are prevented, potential
interruption of the Group’s management system is detected, and risks
existing in the course of arriving at the Group’s objectives are properly
managed.
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During the Year, the Company engaged an external independent consulting
firm to review the effectiveness of certain of the Group’s risk management
and internal controls systems. Relevant recommendations made by the
consultant have already been implemented in stages by the Group to further
enhance its internal control policies, procedures and practices. The Board
considered that the Group's risk management and internal control systems
were effective and adequate during the Year.

The Group has conducted an annual review on whether there is a need for
an internal audit department. Given the Group’s relatively simple corporate
and operation structure, as opposed to diverting resources to establish a
separate internal audit department, the Board, supported by the Audit
Committee, is directly responsible for risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness.

Auditors’ Remuneration

For the Year, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited was engaged as the
Group's independent auditors. The statement of the auditors of the
Company about their reporting responsibilities on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the Year is set out in the Independent Auditors’
Report of this annual report. During the Year, the remuneration paid or
payable to the Company’s auditors, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited,
and their affiliated firms, in respect of their audit and non-audit services was
as follows:

Audit services EZIRTE

RAEE » RRRRE—FKINBELBER QA
BAUAEEETRERERENAMEZERTNE
T o REEE 0B BT ER R AV AERE
& WE— IR EAEEIEECR - BF &
B - EFERAARENEREIE MR
BERGERAFRINEAMATRE

AEEHESHER LN HFZIF  B1EF
J_WMJ o ENAKER QR RIBEEREEE

CREBRDHERBEYE A A EZE
F'EJ TEZZESNHYT EFEEAER
REENRBEERLRAIBEZE RS AR ES
R o

P BB BN
REFE - BRI EHHERANEER

RAEBERELZEED o NRBIZEETENE
HAEBNAFESEPBHRRNBEEEN

BRENARERNBLZEERE - RAF
B BNRENAR RSB EHETER
PRER AR R AR QRN EZ MIFEZIRT
BB T -

Service Fee
Rik&E
HK$'000
FA&T

820

820

Directors and Officers Insurance

Appropriate insurance covers on Directors’ liabilities have been in force to
protect the Directors and officers of the Group from their risk exposure from
the business of the Group during the Year.
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Investor Relations and Communication with
Shareholders

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with all
shareholders. The Company believes that maintaining a high level of
transparency is a key to enhance investor relations.

The Company has established several communication channels, including (a)
the annual and extraordinary general meetings which provide a forum for
shareholders to communicate directly with the Board; (b) printed corporate
documents mailing to shareholders; (c) announcement disseminating the
latest activities of the Group on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange; and (d) the Company’s website providing an electronic means of

communication.

Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an EGM
The following procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting (“EGM") are subject to the Articles (as amended from
time to time), and the applicable legislation and regulation, in particular the
Listing Rules (as amended from time to time):

(a) Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, any one or more shareholders
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company (the “Eligible
Shareholder(s)”) carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition;

(b) The written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting,
signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s) and deposited to the Board or
the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business
at Room 9, 2/F, Hang Bong Commercial Centre, 28 Shanghai Street,
Jordan, Kowloon, Hong Kong, and such may consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more requisitionists;
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The requisition must state clearly the name of the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/their shareholding, the reason(s)
to convene an EGM and the details of the business(es) proposed
to be transacted in the EGM, and must be signed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned together with a deposit of a sum of money
reasonable sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in serving
the notice of the resolution and circulating the statement submitted
by the shareholders concerned in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the registered shareholders;

The requisition will be verified with Hong Kong branch share registrar
and transfer office of the Company and upon their confirmation that
the requisition is proper and in order, the Board will convene an EGM
by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the requirements
under the Articles to all the registered shareholders. On the contrary,
if the requisition has been verified as not in order or the shareholders
concerned have failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the
Company’s expenses for the said purposes, the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the
Board will not call for an EGM; and

If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the Eligible Shareholder(s) himself/ herself/
themselves may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the Eligible Shareholder(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Eligible Shareholder(s)
by the Company.

Procedures by which Enquiries may be put to the
Board

Shareholders may, at any time, direct enquiries to the Board. Such enquiries

can be addressed to the Company Secretary in writing by mail to the

Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room 9, 2/F, Hang

Bong Commercial Centre, 28 Shanghai Street, Jordan, Kowloon, Hong

Kong.
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Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

There are no provisions in the Articles or the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands for Shareholders to put forward new resolutions at general meetings.
Shareholders who wish to put forward a new resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting in accordance with the procedures
set out in the above paragraph headed “Procedures for Shareholders to
Convene an EGM".

Significant Changes in Constitutional Documents

As of the Listing Date to the date of this annual report, there were no
changes made to the constitutional documents of the Company.
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SECTION 1: ABOUT THE COMPANY,
MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS AND GOVERNANCE
STRUCTURE

Section 1.1: About the Company
Hands Form Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased to present the Environmental, Social
and Governance (the “ESG") Report (the "ESG Report”) for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year”). As an established subcontractor
in Hong Kong, the Group principally engages in i) provision of wet trades
works and other wet trades related ancillary works and ii) provision of
construction information technology services. Wet trades works include
plastering on floors, walls and ceilings, tile laying on internal and external
walls and floors, brick laying and marble works. The Group provides wet
trades works through our principal operating subsidiaries, namely, Pak Fai
Engineering Limited (“Pak Fai”) and Ma Yau Engineering Limited (“Ma
Yau”).

Section 1.2: Our ESG Management System
Certification

To ensure the effective implementation of ESG development strategies, the
Group highly values the establishment of various management systems.
Based on different international standards for ESG-related management
systems, the Group formulates and implements sustainable development
strategies at all levels. Meanwhile, the Group has obtained the following
major certifications:

o ISO 14001:2015 Environmental Management Certification
o OHSAS 18001:2007 Occupational Health and Safety Management
Certification

o ISO 9001:2015 Quality Management Certification
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Section 1.3: The ESG Governance Structure

The Group understands its responsibility and is committed to protecting
and enhancing long-term shareholder value, leading and stewarding the
Group with the aim to achieve long-term returns and generate a positive
impact on the society and the environment. To achieve this goal, the Group
has developed various ESG-related management systems to ensure its
governance is aligned with its ESG strategic growth, while advocating for
the integration of ESG into its business operations. The structure of ESG
governance mainly comprised of two components, namely the board of
directors of the Company (the “Board”) and the departments designated
for managing ESG-related matters (the “ESG Management Team").

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the management of the Group
and is collectively responsible to ensure the sustainability of the Group’s
development. The Board is responsible for formulating the ESG strategies
of the Group, monitoring the ESG performance of its operation, reviewing
the effectiveness of the ESG management system and determining the
ESG policies of the Group. The chairman of the Board is responsible for
overseeing the strategic planning and leadership of the Group, while senior
management is responsible for effective implementation of the strategies
formulated by the Board.

The ESG Management Team comprises of core members from different
departments of the Group. The ESG Management Team facilitates the
Board's oversight of ESG-related matters and has the responsibility for
collecting and analysing ESG data, monitoring and evaluating the Group’s
ESG performance, and preparing ESG reports. The ESG Management Team
arranges meetings to discuss and review ESG-related matters, including but
not limited to the Group’s ESG-related performance, ESG-related policies
and procedures, as well as the Group’s strategic goals in terms of sustainable
development. The ESG Management Team reports to the Board from time
to time and assists the Board to discharges its oversight responsibility.
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SECTION 2: ABOUT THE REPORT
Section 2.1: Scope of Reporting

Following to the updated reporting requirements of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the Group has carefully
evaluated its business entities and operations based on the principle of
materiality and considered its core business and main revenue sources.
The scope of this ESG Report includes two principal operating subsidiaries
namely, Pak Fai and Ma Yau, and the Group’s office and warehouse in Hong
Kong. The two principal operating subsidiaries are accountable for majority
of the Group’s total revenue for the Year.

Unless stated otherwise, the ESG Report summarises the initiatives, policies,
and related ESG key performance indicator (“KPI") data of the Group’s
major operating revenue activities under the two principal operating
subsidiaries which are limited in Hong Kong. The Group will continue to
assess the major ESG aspects of different businesses to determine whether
they need to be included in the ESG reporting.

Section 2.2: Reporting Framework

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) as
set out in the Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Information relating to the Group’s corporate governance structure and
practices has been set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 36
to 49 of this annual report.
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The Group attaches great importance to materiality, quantitative, balance
and consistency during the preparation of the ESG Report. The Group has
applied these reporting principles in the aforementioned ESG Reporting
Guide as the following:

o Materiality: Materiality assessment was conducted to identify
material issues during the Year, thereby adopting the confirmed
material issues as the focus for the preparation of the EGS Report.
The materiality of issues was reviewed and confirmed by the Board
and the ESG Management Team. Please refer to the section headed
“Materiality Assessment” for further details.

° Quantitative: The standards and methodologies used in calculation
of relevant data in the ESG Report, as well as the applicable
assumptions were disclosed. The KPIs were supplemented by
explanatory notes to establish benchmarks where feasible.

o Balance: The EGS Report was prepared based on an objective and
impartial manner to ensure that the information disclosed faithfully
reflects the overall ESG performance of the Group.

o Consistency: The statistical methodologies applied to this ESG Report
were substantially consistent with the previous year, and explanations
were provided regarding data with changes in the scope of
disclosure and calculation methodologies. If there are any changes
that may affect comparison with previous reports, the Group will
add comments to the corresponding content of this ESG Report.

The ESG Report has undergone the internal review process of the Group
and was approved by the Board.

Section 2.3: Reporting Period

The ESG Report specifies the ESG activities, challenges and measures being
taken by the Group during the Year.

EHEERARAT « 2021 F51)

RE - g MERHRE

AEBERNES  HEREAREHBEE
WEEM Bk THN R AEEE L
MEBE - HERE ARG P EARSRE
RAEERMT :

. B2 RBHEXREE  AEEEZR
AEFETEEDBRTG - BOERK
EXZBERRERE HERERR
TWEH  AENERUCHESRS
KR - & REAE IR B B MR
R FHE—THBERFL2HEERR
Atfh | —&f e

. Bt ®RE HgMEAMECHKEMN
B BB RITA - A E
RoERER - BREBUEFABEEHAE
7 - ATERITTAVIE L MR B o

. T RE HEREAMENENE
BRAEN T ARE  UHERMKENE
AEERMASEERE  HEMEAR
FTEREERRA

. —HM ARR - HEREAREEA
MBIBRSRT T VR EFEAR 2
BREBELAE T AEES(CMEUIRE
TTTEA - B EME(CR e E B
EREVLE - NEEHHARE - i
B RERAMSHREARIIETW

R HegkEamEChHAREETANE
BT WERE=EHE -

52380 : MEHE

R HegkEaMESFRAFEAEERIR
B e MERTH2NAES - mERODEE
K BREREEE 1

////
i



\
w

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B e REARE

SECTION 3: STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group values its stakeholders and their feedback regarding its
businesses and ESG aspects. To understand and address their key concerns,
the Group has maintained close communication with its key stakeholders,
including but not limited to investors and shareholders, customers,
suppliers and contractors, employees, the community, non-governmental
organisations and media.

In formulating operational strategies and ESG measures, the Group takes
into account our stakeholders’ expectations and concerns, and strives to
improve our performance through mutual cooperation with stakeholders.
The Group has maintained close communication with our key stakeholders
by utilising diversified key communication channels, shown as below:
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Key Stakeholders
FERNOE

Investors and shareholders
"EEMEE

Customers
xR

Suppliers and contractors
HRER M B

Employees
==

The community, non-governmental
organisations and media

e - IR R

Through collaborating with the stakeholders, the Group strives to further
improve its ESG initiatives to create greater value for the community on a

continuous basis.
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Communication Channels
BIEERE

] Annual general meeting and other
shareholder meetings

BERBAFAE REBERAE

] Financial reports
I HE
. Announcements and circulars
NERIEK
J Tender meetings
BEEE
J Project briefings
EREH
o Construction site regular meetings

(including status meeting and
safety meeting)
BETH e (BREEEERE
i
T EH ek

] Telephone interviews and
communication
BREERER

] Regular management meetings
THEERESS

. Regular performance appraisals
TE BB G

] Internal announcement
AEYN=

Charity events
REERD

o ESG reports

RS - g REARE
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Expectations and Concerns

HENMTSEE
o Complying with relevant laws and
regulations
BTRBERRER
o Financial results
M RE
o Service quality
fRsE &
o Service delivery time and quality

RBRMERNEE

o Supply chain management
HrEsEn

o Occupational health and safety
BEREREZD

o Equal opportunities

o Remuneration and benefits
e IS Y

o Career development
BERERE

o Giving back to society
M E

° Environmental protection
RIBIRE
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SECTION 4: MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

A materiality assessment in the form of surveys was conducted during
the Year, where the Group identified sustainability factors that were
material to our business operations. The management and employees who
are responsible for the key functions of the Group have participated in
preparing the ESG Report, assisted the Group in reviewing its operations,
identifying key ESG issues and assessing the importance of these issues to
our businesses and stakeholders. The Group has compiled a questionnaire
in reference to the identified material ESG aspects to collect the information
from relevant departments and business units of the Group. The Group's
material sustainability aspects will be covered in the ESG Report and the
materiality matrix is as follow:
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HEREARRERREAEENERAIFER
MERRRELNTS

RE®E HB2

The Group’s Materiality Matrix for 2021

S
Q
>

ot

Safety Tralmngs
T2

Corporate Social Responswblhty
EHEEME

Energy Consumpt\on
RETROHFE

Waste Management
FEYE TR

LEVEL OF INFLUENCE ON STAKEHOLDERS’ ASSESSMENTS AND DECISIONS
I HEMTE AR FERE

REBR_Z_—FNEBMHER

Occupational Health and Safety
BEERRAZS

Project Quahty Mamagement
HEEEER

Low LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE OF ECONOMIC, ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL IMPACTS
& HEE RERMENTERE

SECTION 5: CONTACT US

Comments and suggestions are welcome from our stakeholders. You may
provide comments on the ESG Report or towards our performance in
respect of sustainable development via the following channels:

Address: Room 9, 2/F.,, Hang Bong Commercial Centre,

28 Shanghai Street, Jordan, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Email: info@handsform.com
Telephone: 2127 4675
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SEhE BRI

HMEE O EREEANEZ - BT EB
UTREBRIRE « @ RE ARSI IER

FEZRITENKRBEHRER
Hik - BENBRER LEH 285

EHEERD2EIE
FEE : info@handsform.com
TEEE 1 2127 4675
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL

Al.

Emissions

The Group strives to protect the environment through the
implementation of relevant policies and measures in its
business activities and workplace. The Group has formulated
relevant policies relating to environmental management in
accordance with the ISO 14001:2015 certification to govern
environmental management and minimise the impact
caused by our operations. The Group carries out a series
of environmental management measures at construction
sites, covering planning, procurement and various project
procedures.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong
Kong related to air and greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste including but not limited to, the
Air Pollution Control Ordinance, Waste Disposal Ordinance
and Noise Control Ordinance, that would have a significant
impact on the Group.

Exhaust Gas Emissions

As a corporation providing wet trades works and other
wet trades related ancillary works, the Group’s exhaust gas
emissions are limited to emission generated by forklifts,
and the Group considers the relevant exhaust gas emissions
generated are insignificant. However, the Group still strives
to mitigate the exhaust gas generated from our business as
much as possible. Fuel consumption reduction measures for
forklifts have been carried out and will be described in the
section headed “GHG Emissions” under this aspect.
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GHG Emissions

The major sources of GHG emissions of the Group are
diesel consumption for forklifts (Scope 1) and electricity
consumption for the office (Scope 2). During the Year, the
Group had generated a total of approximately 14.34 tCO2e
(2020: 40.45 tCO2e) GHG emissions' which consisted of
approximately 11.72 tCO2e (2020: 37.11 tCO2e) Scope
1 GHG emissions and approximately 2.62 tCO2e (2020:
3.34 tC0O2e) Scope 2 GHG emissions. Based on the total
revenue of the Group during the Year, the intensity of total
GHG emissions was approximately 0.13 tCO2e/million HK$
revenue?, which remains consistent with that in 2020. The
significant change in total GHG emissions is mainly due to
the decrease in diesel consumption of the forklifts.

During the Year, the Group has set target to reduce 10%
of GHG emissions intensity (tCO2e/million HK$ revenue)
over the next 5 years, using the Year as the baseline year. To
mitigate GHG emissions and achieve the target, the Group
encourages workers to switch off engine whenever the
forklifts are idled and plan routes ahead of time to reduce
route repetition. Our forklifts undergo regular maintenance
service to ensure optimal engine performance and fuel
use. With such measures implemented, emissions from
diesel consumption for forklifts have been minimised and
employees’ awareness on GHG emissions reduction has been
enhanced.

! GHG emissions data are presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent and are based on,
but not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting
Standards” issued by the World Resources Institute and the World Business Council for
Sustainable Development, “How to prepare an ESG report - Appendix II: Reporting Guidance
on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, the “Global Warming
Potential Values” from the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report, 2014 (“AR5") and the 2020
Sustainability Report published by the CLP Power Hong Kong Limited.

2 During the Year, the total revenue of the Group was approximately HK$107.3 million. This
number would also be used for calculating other intensity data in the ESG Report.
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Sewage Discharge

As the Group does not consume significant volume of
water in our business activities, our business activities did
not generate material discharges into water during the
Year. Moreover, wastewater of the Group is discharged into
the municipal sewage pipeline network for processing and
the majority of the water supply and discharge facilities
are provided and managed by the property management
company.

Waste Management

Hazardous Wastes

Due to our business nature, the Group did not generate a
significant amount of hazardous wastes during the Year.
In case there are any hazardous wastes produced, the
Group must engage a qualified chemical waste collector
to handle such wastes in order to comply with the relevant
environmental laws and regulations.

Non-hazardous Wastes

As the construction projects of the Group are outsourced
to subcontractors, the non-hazardous wastes generated by
the Group's operations mainly consist of paper consumed in
the office. During the Year, the Group had generated a total
of approximately 324.32 kg non-hazardous wastes (2020:
349.27 kg) with an intensity of approximately 3.02 kg/million
HK$ revenue.

During the Year, the Group has set target to reduce 10%
of non-hazardous wastes intensity (kg/million HK$ revenue)
over the next 5 years, using the Year as the baseline year.
In order to minimize the environmental impact from non-
hazardous wastes generated from the consumption of paper
and achieve the target, The Group regularly monitors the
consumption of paper, and encourages the use of electronic
media for communication and double-sided printing
wherever possible. To promote reusing paper, a collection
box for single-sided used paper is placed next to each printer
and reminders are posted in the office. With such measures
implemented, employees’ awareness on paper consumption
reduction has been enhanced.
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A2.

Use of Resources

The Group continues with initiatives to introduce resource
efficiency and eco-friendly measures to the Group's
operations, and is committed to optimising the use of
resources in all of its business operations.

During our daily operation, fuel and electricity are the major
energy consumed. The Group has established relevant policies
and procedures in governing the efficient use of resources,
in reference to the objective of achieving higher energy
efficiency and reducing the use of unnecessary materials.

Energy Consumption

The Group’s major sources of energy consumption are diesel
consumption for forklifts and purchased electricity for the
office. During the Year, the Group had consumed a total
of approximately 47,895.56 kWh (2020: 151,814.68 k\Wh)
diesel and approximately 7,080.46 kWh (2020: 9,029.78
kWh) electricity. Total energy consumption was approximately
54,976.02 kWh (2020: 160,844.46 kwh) and the intensity
was 512.36 kWh/million HK$ revenue (2020: 527.36
kWh/million HK$ revenue). The significant change in total
energy consumption is mainly due to the decrease in diesel
consumption of the forklifts.

During the Year, the Group sets a target of reducing 10% of the
total energy consumption intensity (kWh/million HK$ revenue)
over the next 5 years, using the Year as the baseline year. Apart
from the reduction measures for forklifts mentioned, the Group
places great emphasis on electricity conservation to minimise the
impact brought by the Group’s operation to the environment.
The Group encourages our employees to set room temperature
ranges from 23°C to 25°C and switches off electrical appliances
to avoid unnecessary consumption. The Group selects energy-
efficient equipment where applicable and will adopt immediate
maintenance once damage is reported. With such measures
implemented, employees’ awareness on energy conservation
has been enhanced.

A2.

BN A

7R £2 [ A AR BRERAE e S B B IR
RIEEBRARZES - XEAR
HEEMAXBEETEILEIRF
A -

REMNWBEEEET  MRERE
NRBFENERER - AREC
RIBZEBE SRERME R JF
VEMPHERN BR - 1571858
B RIRFF AR RFIREIR ©

BEREFE
AREENFEERERERRE AR
REIE R SEREFE R AR A
EMIBEES c RAFE - A%
la/ﬁﬁm #4947,895.56 T FLFF
—E-FF:151,81468F K
B ) 490 N #97,080.46 TR (—
T -FTF 902978 TRHE)E
71 o #BREIRBFEE 45 54,976.02
FEF(ZZZFF : 160,844.46
TERE)  MZEA51236 TR
K/ BEATKE(ZE=TF :
527.36 TRl BEBTME)
B RBRENBEZ L NEER
BB Y4 EFER D FTER

J‘EAZISEF* CAREEUERFEAE
BEF - RERARSFHFBRER
;ﬁ%%ﬁ‘&‘(?ﬁﬁq/ﬁﬁ%*%nu&
) PR1K 10% M B 1Z © Br EXXAT
LFJEE’J;‘WJ\?ﬁEM\\ CAEES
EEGHENZERIAEEHE
Li%fﬁiim?ﬁmgﬁg o NEE T
BiEEBENREARN23°CE
25°CHIEL[E A - W RERIE 85 A
BETUERER - ANEETHE
RERTERGSESRE —BF
BIERMEN £k W RIETTHE
&-HBEERB@AER EEHN
B BB IbE RS ©

Hands Form Holdings Limited « Annual Report 2021



A3.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Water Consumption

The Group’s water consumption mainly consists of water
consumed in the office. The Group’s water consumption
expenses are included in the property management fee,
and therefore the Group did not have water consumption
record during the Year. Due to our operating locations, the
Group does not encounter any significant issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose. Still, the Group is dedicated to
promoting behavioural changes in water usage at offices and
encouraging water conservation. Environmental signages
with water-saving messages are posted in prominent places
to remind employees to conserve water.

Use of Packaging Materials

As the Group does not involve in any production process, it
does not consume packaging materials, hence this aspect is
considered as irrelevant to the Group.

The Environment and Natural Resources
The Group pursues best practices with the environment and
focuses on the impact of its operations on the environment
and natural resources. The Group has also integrated
the concept of environmental protection into its internal
management and daily operation activities and its committed
to achieving the goal of environmental sustainability.

The main resources used by the Group in its daily operations
are electricity and diesel which have been described in the
section headed “Use of Resources” of Aspect A2. Apart
from that, the Group will not use other natural resources in
large quantities. The Group’s environmental impact and the
use of natural resources have always been highly valued and
it hopes to identify and mitigate the impact by considering
sustainable development in all of its affairs.

EHEERARAT « 2021 F51)

A3.

RE - g MERHRE

K FE

REBRKEERTEBEERA
ERAK REENFEKAXER
REVMEERERN At &%
ERARFEELEREKCEE - ER
B EBME - AEBERKE
BEAKERABITHESEAME K
SBDAB AR ER A ERK
MITAE  WEBETLHMAK-
B A K E R IRIB IR SRR AN TR
FENE - IREREBEOANK -

BEMEMER

PR AN 5% B30 08 e (R (AT AR AR
2 B EEREEMY - |’
It it ER oy AR A B A SR T AR
o

RERBRER
AEEBERBETEHERZEER
B WEINHEZEHRERE
RERERNTE - NEBE T
RRESBAEAREENEE
LEERE BMOBERREARFE
HRWBER -

AEBRELCENANEIEZER
BEAREHR BEREBEA2[E
JEF ] — &N AT o BRILIASN
rEETSREFHAEMERE
TR o REBEEKAIRBHE RF
BERER—EXISEER -
WHIEBBTEEMBEEFREE
ARFEEEER RS RA R
E

/
o

61



62

\
w

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIR - g MERHRE

A4.

Noise Management

The Group recognises that noise pollution may be generated
due to our business nature. Therefore, the Group has
implemented a number of measures to reduce noise level and
ensured that the quality of life of the neighbourhood would
not be severely disrupted. Whenever the noise level exceeds
the prescribed level regulated by the Noise Control Ordinance
and other relevant guidelines issued by the Environmental
Protection Department, the Group will investigate the
underlying factors and make respective arrangements.
Silent equipment will be used where available and will be
maintained regularly. With the relevant measures, the Group
aims to minimise the impact brought to our neighbourhood.

Indoor Air Quality

Good indoor air quality is important for employees who work
in the office. Indoor air quality in our workplace is regularly
monitored. The Group has adopted several measures
to ensure a good indoor air quality at the office, which
include but not limited to conducting regular cleaning of air
conditioning system. With such measures, indoor air quality is
maintained.

Climate Change

The Group recognises the importance of the identification
and mitigation of significant climate-related matters;
therefore, the Group is committed to managing the potential
climate-related risks which may impact the Group’s business
activities. The Group has established risk management policy
in identifying and mitigating different risks including climate-
related risks. The Board meets regularly and cooperates
closely with key management to identify and evaluate
climate-related risks and to formulate strategies to manage
the identified risks.
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Through the above method, the Group identified the material
impacts on the Group’s business arising from the following
risks:

Climate-related matters

Physical Risks:

The increased frequency and severity of extreme weather
such as typhoons, storms and heavy rains can disrupt
the Group's operations by damaging the power grid and
communication infrastructures, and injuring its employees
during their work, leading to reduced capacity and decreased
in productivity, or expose the Group to risks associated with
non-performance and delayed performance. To minimise the
potential risks and hazards, the Group has flexible working
arrangements and precautionary measures during bad or
extreme wealth conditions.

Tradition Risks:

The Group anticipates that there will be more stringent
climate legislations and regulations to support the global
vision of carbon neutrality. From a listed company’s
perspective, we acknowledge the increasing requirements
of climate-related information disclosures. One example is
the update of the Stock Exchange’s ESG Guide in respect
to significant climate-related impact disclosures of an issuer.
Stricter environmental laws and regulations may expose
enterprises to higher risks of claims and lawsuits. Corporate
reputation may also decline due to failure to meet the
compliance requirements for climate change. The company’s
related capital investment and compliance costs thus increase.
In response to the policy and legal risks as well as reputation
risks, the Group regularly monitors existing and emerging
trends, policies and regulations relevant to climate and be
prepared to alert the top management where necessary
to avoid cost increments, non-compliance fines and/or
reputational risks due to delayed response.
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B. SOCIAL

B1.

Employment

Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal

Employees’ qualification, professional skills and experiences
exert significant influence on the quality of services. As an
equal opportunity employer, the Group emphasises a fair,
open, objective, and non-discriminatory selection process.
The Group’s “Human Resources and Payroll Management
Policies and Procedures” regulates the recruitment procedures
with the principles of fairness and justice. The promotion of
employees is determined by appraisals that are conducted
regularly by the Human Resources (“HR") Department
to evaluate staffs’ work performance. The “HR Processes
Manual” has listed the process of appraisals and the types
of appraisals in detail, namely quarterly appraisals and yearly
appraisals. The termination of employment contract is
governed by internal policies to ensure all dismissal comply
with relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong. The Group
strictly prohibits any kinds of unfair or illegitimate dismissals.
Our management conducts face-to-face interviews with
the resigned staff in order to understand our employees’
opinions.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong Kong
related to employment including but not limited to, the
Employment Ordinance and the Minimum Wage Ordinance,
that would have a significant impact to the Group.
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The Group had experienced a decrease in the number of full-
time employees from 21 as at 31 December 2020 to 15 as at
31 December 2021, all of whom are from Hong Kong. Out
of the total number of staff, 14 of our employees were male
(2020: 19 male employees) and 1 of them were female (2020:
2 female employees). Majority of the workforce were within
the 31 — 60 age group, accounting for 11 of our staff, while
2 employees were under 30 years old and 2 were over 60
years old.

During the Year, the Group’s overall full-time employee
turnover rate was approximately 21.05%. The employee
turnover rate for male and female were approximately
26.32% and 50% respectively.

Remuneration and Benefits

In order to attract and retain skilful employees, the
remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees
are periodically reviewed. The salary and benefit levels of the
Group’s employees are competitive, and they are referenced
to market conditions, individual qualifications and experience.
Apart from the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF"), medical
insurance and labour insurance are purchased for employees
once they join the Group, while salaries increment, and
discretionary bonuses may be awarded to employees
according to the assessment of individual performance and
market conditions.
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Diversity and Equal Opportunities

The Group is committed to creating and maintaining an
inclusive and collaborative workplace culture in which all can
thrive. The Group is dedicated to maintaining workplaces that
are free from discrimination, physical or verbal harassment
against any individual on the basis of race, religion, colour,
gender, physical or mental disability, age, place of origin,
marital status, and sexual orientation. The Group also has zero
tolerance of sexual harassment or abuse in the workplace
in any forms. Any employee who is intimidated, humiliated,
bullied or harassed (including sexual harassment) may report
to the employee’s representative, or file complaints directly to
the management representative or the general manager, and
the Group will take serious approaches to resolve these issues
upon receiving the said complaints.

Health and Safety

Employees’ safety is regarded as the top priority due to
high-risk activities and critical exposure of employees during
specific works such as construction at heights during the
delivery of the Group’s services. The Group is committed
to providing healthy and safe working environment for
all employees and contractors, and strives to achieve zero
tolerance toward hazards, incidents, non-compliance, and
accidents.
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Accredited by the OHSAS 18001:2007 certification, the
Group has established the “Safety and Health Policy” which is
reviewed by the Group’s management annually or once there
is a significant change in relevant regulations, the Group’s
governance structure or working environment. The Safety
Committee, which consists of managers, Safety Officer and
supervisors, is responsible for the effective implementation
of the policy. A “Safety Plan” is written for each project to
support the policy. To ensure the policy is up to date and
applicable for the current status of the project, our Safety
Officer conducts interviews with the construction site
supervisors as well as the site workers on the understanding
of the policy.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong
Kong related to health and safety including but not limited
to, the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance and the
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance, that would have a
significant impact to the Group.

During the Year, the Group has not recorded any incidents
that caused work-related fatality and injury in the past three
years, including the Year. Besides, there was no claims or
compensation for its employees due to such incidents, and
no significant violations of laws and regulations relating to
employee’s health and safety matters during the Year.
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Occupational Health and Safety

In order to control and mitigate the safety risks in our
construction projects, which may involve high-risk activities,
safety is treated as our first priority during the delivery of our
services. Clearly stated in the “Safety Plan”, all workers must
obtain the Construction Industry Safety Training Certificate
(also known as the green card). Our construction sites are
equipped with first-aid boxes and fire extinguishers. Various
reminders are also posted around the construction sites to
ensure our workers are wearing safety gears and aware of
the dangerous area, and accident statistics are prominently
displayed at the same time.

The Group also demands our workers to be equipped with
personal protective equipment and ensure that the personal
protective equipment is effective. Personal protective
equipment can only be purchased from suppliers after
consulting the security consultant and discussing with the
Safety Committee. Relevant personal protective equipment,
including but not limited to helmets, safety goggles, hearing
protectors, fall arrestors and full-body safety harnesses, are
provided to all on-site workers in order to prevent accidents
in high risks activities especially at heights. Workers must
receive trainings and instructions on the correct usage of
the personal protective equipment and procedures for the
maintenance, storage and replacement of personal protective
equipment.
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Safety Trainings

In order to reduce incidents and enhance the Group’s image,
the Group aims to raise the employees’ awareness of health
and safety through safety trainings. There are mainly four
types of safety trainings, namely the guided courses, the
Construction Industry Safety Training Certificate programme,
specific trainings, and safety and health lectures. The Group
provides appropriate safety trainings to all management
personnel, supervisors and front-line employees. Employees
are encouraged to take initiatives to notify relevant safety
trainings course. All new employees must receive internal
one-hour safety guidance training within one week after on
board.

Response to the novel coronavirus (COVID-19)

As the COVID-19 pandemic has continued through 2021
and 2022, like the whole construction industry, the business
operation of the Group was also affected. Not only did the
pandemic affect the Group financially, it has also posed
serious health risk to day-to-day operations of the Group, as
our business requires the gathering of workers to complete
the works. The Group has complied with all public health
measures of the government. Various virus prevention
measures were carried out, for example, employees or visitors
of the Group must wear a surgical mask and have their
temperature taken upon entering the office, construction site
or other properties owned by the Group. The Group has also
provided its employees with adequate protective gears and
surgical masks in hopes of preventing the spread of the virus.
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B3.

Development and Training

Employee Development and Training

The Group recognises that staff training and development is a
strong pillar to the sustainable operation of the business and
driving force to drive future business growth. Adopting the
“Training & Development Policy”, the Group encourages our
employees to attend training programmes designed by the
Group, take initiative to assess skills and seek development
activities that match needs. Training officers and supervisors
shall work with staff to assess and provide feedback on their
skills and interests, advice and arrange training programs
and develop training materials and activities that match their
needs of career development objectives. They develop an
annual development plan to support employee development
and plan a training schedule for each employee.

During the Year, the percentage breakdown of employees
trained and the average training hours per employee, by
gender and employee category are as follows:

By Gender 3 da ko

e Female o 1k

* Male o Bt

By Employee Category RESEHE S

c SRERE
c FRERE
« MRERE

e Senior Management
e Middle Management
e Junior Management
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Training Programmes

Training programmes mainly consist of two types, namely
internal trainings and external trainings. External trainings
include conferences and forums. The HR Department
encourages employees to attend external training programs
that focus on topics of relevance to their position. For internal
trainings, the Group designs trainings for its employees
regarding their own needs of their job duty, position status,
or experience. For new hired employees, a set of orientation
training materials including company structure, “Code of
Conduct” and “Safety Procedures” and other relevant
information developed by HR Department will be provided on
their first working day.

The Board is encouraged to attend external seminars and
training programmes at the Group's expense to update
themselves with legal and regulatory developments, as well
as the business and market changes to facilitate the discharge
of their responsibilities. Continuing briefing and professional
development to directors will be arranged whenever
necessary.

Labour Standards

Prevention of Child Labour and Forced Labour

Child and forced labour are strictly prohibited during the
recruitment process as defined by laws and regulations.
During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong Kong
related to the prevention of child or forced labour including
but not limited to, the Employment of Children Regulations
and the Employment Ordinance, that would have a
significant impact to the Group.
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B5.

Personal data is collected during the process to assist in the
selection of suitable candidates and to verify candidates’
personal data. The HR Department is responsible to ensure
identity documents are carefully checked. If violation is
involved, it will be dealt with the circumstances as clearly
stated in the Group’s “Employee Handbook"”.

Furthermore, employees of the Group work overtime on a
voluntary basis to prevent any breaches of labour standards.
The Group also prohibits any punishments, management
methods and behaviours involving verbal abuse, physical
punishment, physical abuse, oppression, sexual harassment,
etc. against our employees for any reason.

Supply Chain Management

Supply Chain Management

The Group's suppliers mainly include suppliers of construction
materials and tooling, machinery and equipment rental
service providers and suppliers of safety consultancy services,
repair and maintenance services and logistics services.
During the Year, the Group had engaged 246 (2020: 367)
suppliers and subcontractors while all of them were located
in Hong Kong. The Group generally order the relevant
construction materials and services on a project-by-project
basis, and therefore does not enter into any long-term supply
agreements with our suppliers.
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To assess suppliers’ and subcontractors’ ability to supply
materials and deliver works which meet all the requirements
and specifications, the Group has formulated “Prequalification
of Suppliers and Subcontractors” policy to regulate the
evaluation on suppliers’ and subcontractors’ performance.
Quotation is asked from at least three suppliers or
subcontractors from the supplier list or subcontractor list
after tender is confirmed. “Supplier Evaluation Form” is used
to evaluate suppliers’ performance after the completion of
the project on the quality of the materials delivered, ability
to meet requirement, competitive prices and deliveries on
schedule. The Group attends regular meetings with suppliers
and subcontractors in order to evaluate the performance of
workers, safety measures in the construction sites and quality
of materials. Suppliers or subcontractors may be suspended
or removed from the approved list if they fail to fulfil our
standards.

Product Responsibility

Achieving and maintaining high quality standard for projects
are the most important for the sustainable growth of the
Group. Our direct customers include main contractors and
subcontractors of various building construction projects
in Hong Kong while the ultimate owners of the projects
undertaken by us mainly include the Government and
property developers. As a subcontractor, the Group mainly
secures our projects from contractors through tenders by
invitation. The Group strives to maintain good relationship
with our major customers to establish good reputation and
to gain future business opportunity.
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During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong Kong
related to product health and safety, advertising, labelling and
privacy matters relating to products and services provided and
methods of redress including but not limited to, the Trade
Descriptions Ordinance and Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance,
that would have a significant impact to the Group. There was
no complaint received during the Year. Given the Group's
business nature, the Group was not involved in the sale of
products, therefore disclosure on product recall procedures
and number of products recalled are not applicable.

Project Quality Management

The Group’s quality management system has been
accredited by the ISO 9001:2015 certification. The Group
commits to fulfilling our customers’ satisfaction with high
quality construction service, and implementing the “Project
Tendering and Management Policy” to ensure our clients’
requirements and expectations are fully understood and
documented. The Project Manager is responsible to monitor
the project progress and job workmanship as per contractual
and other requirements. The Contract Manager will then
review all documents referenced in the tender received by
the Group. The Tendering Department prepares preliminaries
tender notes after the review to record the project details,
specific contract payment terms and conditions, and the
information required to be submitted. Such information will
be brought to the Board for their acceptance or rejection of
tender.
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Privacy Protection

Despite that the Group has limited access to our customers’
personal data due to our business nature, as a responsible
service provider, the Group has formulated internal policy
to regulate the handling of confidential information while
protecting customers’ privacy. All confidential data related to
the Group’s business and customer information are securely
protected and only used for internal purpose. Any leakage
of confidential information to the third parties is strictly
prohibited. As such, in carrying out our operations, the
Group adheres to the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and
expressly reiterates confidentiality obligations.

The Group is determined to strengthen the protection of
customers’ privacy. Our employees are trained to maintain
the confidentiality of our customers’ information which they
may have access to during work. The Group also standardizes
procedures for filing in order to protect confidential
information.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group has established relevant guidelines to govern
the information technology management within the
Group. Besides, the information technology department
is responsible for obtaining proper licenses for software,
hardware, and information the Group uses in its business
operation. Duplication or downloading of information,
software, and images from the internet must be approved
by relevant departments. Furthermore, the Group has
closely monitored the infringement actions in the market
and prevented infringement behavior, such as counterfeit
trademarks.
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Advertising and Labelling

As a subcontractor who provides wet trades works and
other wet trades related ancillary works, the Group does
not have any significant issues on advertising and labelling.
Nevertheless, in the Group’s dealings with its clients,
information provided should be complete, true, accurate,
clear, and comply with all relevant laws and regulations
regarding the proper advertising, including but not limited to
the Trade Descriptions Ordinance.

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

The Group strives to achieve high standard of ethics in
business operations and does not tolerate any forms of
corruptions, frauds and all other behaviours violating work
ethics. Unethical or illegal events such as corruption, bribery,
and collusion are strictly prohibited. The Group stipulates the
disciplinary code in the Employee Handbook and employees’
Code of Conduct, and ensure the employees understand the
details of the terms. The Group encourages employees to
report any suspected misconduct.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong Kong
related to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering
including but not limited to, the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance, that would have a significant impact to the
Group.
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Conflict of Interest Management

In order to prevent employees from not taking corresponding
measures because of their personal interests, the Group has
formulated the “Declaration of Interest” which provides
guidelines and procedures to employees in exercising their
utmost good faith and honesty in all transactions involving
their duties and under no circumstances use their positions or
knowledge gained for their own personal benefits. Employees
must ensure that there is no conflict of interest between
their personal interests and their duties, obligations and
responsibilities to the Group. Those who have or have had a
personal relationship with related person where a conflict of
interest is perceived should provide written declarations at the
earliest possible opportunity.

Whistleblowing Mechanism

Committed to the highest possible standards of openness,
probity and accountability, the Group expects and
encourages our employees who have concerns about any
suspected misconduct or malpractice within the Group to
come forward and voice those concerns. Therefore, the
Group adopts a “Whistleblowing Policy” for all levels and
operations. Complainants are assured of protection against
unfair dismissal, victimisation or unwarranted disciplinary
action, even if the concerns turn out to be unsubstantiated.
The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring and
reviewing the effectiveness of the “Whistleblowing Policy”
and make recommendations for further improvement based
on investigation results.
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B8.

Community Investment

Corporate Social Responsibility

As part of the strategic development, the Group is committed
to supporting the public means of social participation and
contribution, and to nurturing the corporate culture and
practices of corporate citizen in our daily operation. The
Group aims to promote the stability of society and support
underprivileged on rehabilitation to improve the quality of
life. The Group also focuses to inspire its employees towards
social welfare awareness. The Group embraces the human
capital into the social management strategies to sustain
our corporate social responsibility as a part of the strategic
development of the Group.

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has temporarily
suspended the organisation and participation of charitable
and voluntary activities.
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BT & 3t E B A MR S
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE MEMBERS OF
HANDS FORM HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hands Form
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 89 to 187, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
RV A EE S

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Audiitors’ Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPAs Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code"”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

RRzEE

EEEREBETESAMASRM 2 BEETE
A ([ EBEER D ETET - BFELFE
AT Z2EEERNAHmE (BB R
BHRRARZEE] —8hEE— TR - 1R
BEBEMNRAERM I EL ST AERETEH
(TsFR)) - EFHURN BE&EE - MEFRE

SRIEETREMBREE - BFHE &FM
BB B BRERAENEEHNREENER
PRALERE o

BREESEE
FARBAFEASRBEESNERAE - RAY

ARG EMBRER CETRAEENTR
ZEEENESETBRE AV BRRMHOA
BARRE BETSHZESTRERBIUE
EIO
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)
Key Audit Matter

BARETSE
Revenue recognition from provision of construction

services

RHUBRERBH WS

We identified the revenue recognition from provision
of construction services as a key audit matter due to its
significance to the consolidated financial statements and
management’s estimate is involved in determining the revenue
when contract progresses.
EERREEZERGASREEARBRETFE R
REHHGEVBEHRREBZEAEETSETPOR
Bl gy R ERENGET

The accounting policy, accounting estimate and disclosure
for revenue are disclosed in Note 3, Note 4 and Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.
BEE - Wit REERERNGA
3~ M5k 4 RS P IKREE -

R TSR OB T

Independent Auditors’ Report
RV EE S

BAEEL TS ()

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EEETHNETNREEARENSE

Our audit procedures in relation to revenue recognition from
provision of construction services mainly included:

FHEBARHEERGNEAEANBAEF T ERRA
LAT%IE :

o Obtaining an understanding on how the management
recognises the revenue from the provision of
construction services and how the total budget costs
are determined;
TRREIRETER IR RS

RIRERAEENTT N

& ARAS P 1S U2 B9 T3 0R A I

o Agreeing the project contract sum to signed contracts
and variation orders, if any;
ZEBRBARNSREERSORIREEHES (W
B):

o Assessing the accuracy of the actual total costs
incurred for the year by checking against the payment
certificates or invoices issued by the subcontractors and
suppliers, on a sample basis;

MBS D B MR AN RERHRERN

AHEAFEEELAERKARMN RN |
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Independent Auditors’ Report
RV A EE S

Key Audit Matters (Continued)
Key Audit Matter

BEFEITER

Revenue recognition from provision of construction

services (Continued)

RHUBRERBH WS (F)

ERETSIE (R
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EEETHNETNREEARENSE

Checking the total budget costs by inspecting the
underlying contracts and correspondence with
subcontractors and suppliers, on a sample basis, of
individual projects and understanding the causes for
significant variances, if any, made to these budgets
during the year,;
FRHEESERNEENEESONALED B
MEEEOBAAREETEERRN - W T #REK
ZEREFALREREZENRE (0EF) ;

Evaluating the reliability of the management’s
estimation by comparing their budget costs to actual
costs on completed projects, on a sample basis; and
FEMKLTRERERENAEETTIEANE
BRACA - FHEERE MR ELE R

Assessing the accuracy of revenue recognised for
the year by recalculating the revenue based on the
percentage of completion of the contract based on the
input method.
BRRBRAZEFAEENSHNTNE D LA
Was - A FE R S R EREE -
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)
Key Audit Matter

BEFEITER

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and contract

assets

BEZRURARSNEE ZBER

We identified the impairment assessment of trade receivables
and contract assets as a key audit matter due to its significance
to the consolidated financial statements and management'’s
estimate is involved in determining the impairment of trade
receivables and contract assets.

EEHE FRWTIENENEE BB AHR AR
FitEE  AREMGEUBHRRAMEBEARETE
ZREWFIARANEENRER S R ERBOMET

The accounting policy, accounting estimate and disclosures
for the impairment of trade receivables and contract assets
are disclosed in Note 3, Note 4, Note 15 and Note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SRR - g5t RBSRWFIERESNEE ZRIE
BEESZES M BHmRAOMNEES - 34 MiaE 15 Rta:

17 PHREE -

Independent Auditors’ Report
RV EE S

BAEEL TS ()

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EEETHNETNREEARENSE

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment of
trade receivables and contract assets mainly included:
EERRE HRRFIARENEE REN HETE
FEEZB/EATRIEA :

o Obtaining an understanding on how the management
assess the expected credit losses for trade receivables
and contract assets;
THREBENMGEZRYEGIERSNEED
TEEMEEEE

o Testing the integrity of information used by
management for the assessment, including ageing
analysis of trade receivables, on a sample basis, by
comparing individual items in the analysis with the
relevant underlying documents;

AR ERERTEAER (BREFHEK
RIERE D) 2 2B M - FBRBFSTHERE
TR B BRI S ETTEE R

° Testing, on a sample basis, the collection of receivables
after the year end from the customers;

ORI B R T P WRER RO FE SOR
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Key Audit Matters (Continued) FARETSIE (&)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BEFEITER EEFETHETNNEERRETSE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and contract

assets (Continued)

EZRWRARSNEE ZBEN (&)

o Assessing the reasonableness of the basis and
judgement of the management in determining credit
loss allowance on trade receivables and contract assets;
and
HEEEEEETE HRKFIARENEENE
EFERERMKERABNSENT &

o Testing the key data sources applied in the expected
credit losses computation, on a sample basis, by
checking to the supporting information and external
data sources, as applicable.
FRREEHEE R RINBEURIR (WER) - LAt
BHASAAREEBRAETER 2 AR
BIR °
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors and
Those Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
RV A EE S

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

BB B S M MR AR
MEE
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that

we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we

have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’
report is Mr. Kwok Kin Leung.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Kin Leung
Practising Certificate Number: P05769

Hong Kong, 28 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
ME MW

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ T - —F+-_H=1+—HILFE

=IZAN
N

| N

PR
Hm

2021 2020
—EB-—F —E-FTF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FET
Revenue Wz 5 117,456 304,965
Cost of services ARG AN AN (180,916) (301,162)
Gross (loss)/profit E(E), F| (63,460) 3,803
Other income Ha A 6 190 13,455
Fair value loss on financial assets AV ER ABxm
at fair value through profit or loss L EREE
NFEEE (521) =
Allowance for impairment losses WEEIBRE (9,443) (340)
Administrative expenses THFX (9,497) (9,559)
Finance costs BB A 7 (418) (382)
(Loss)/profit before tax BRTIAT (E518) mF 8 (83,149) 6,977
Income tax (expense)/credit TS () % 9 (37) 392
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive Fr(EHE) 57
(expense)/income for the year kE2E X))
Wiz 48 %8 (83,186) 7,369
(Loss)/earnings per share SR (E8) BF
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) - EARNEE (B 12 (3.20) 0.28

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e ISR

As at 31 December 2021 R =—ZE——F+—-/F=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—F ZETF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$fOOQ
BRE FET FET
Non-current assets FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - B KR 13 9,804 11,540
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BATER ABRE
L EREE 14 2,482 -
Deferred tax assets BEIETIEEE 21 - 75
12,286 11,615
Current assets MENEE
Trade receivables =) e 15 8,806 9,898
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments Ei\ﬁﬂﬂg%lm
}E/i\&ﬁﬁ 16 27,830 41,788
Contract assets BHEE 17 127,638 179,152
Tax recoverable AUk [E Fi I 126 120
Pledged bank deposit EHEBRITIF 18 5,000 5,000
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR MRS 18 9,563 5,945
178,963 241,903
Total assets BB E 191,249 253,518
Current liabilities mENBE
Trade and other payables B REMBEMNKE 19 29,012 6,697
Contract liabilities ABHBE 17 231 87
Bank overdrafts H|ITHEX 20 8,373 21
Bank borrowings SRITIER 20 7,906 17,785
45,522 24,590
Net current assets REEEZRE 133,441 217,313
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBEE 145,727 228,928
Non-current liabilities FEREBEE
Deferred tax liabilities BIETRIEA R 21 107 122
Net assets EEFE 145,620 228,806
Capital and reserves B #iE
Equity attributable to owners RAREB A
of the Company Gt
Share capital &7 22 26,000 26,000
Reserves 1 119,620 202,806
Total equity R 145,620 228,806
The consolidated financial statements on pages 89 to 187 were approved HNELIOE 187 NG AN BRENR T ——
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2022 and F=H_—_+)N Ez%§$@}tt,&&&$g§§% 7
signed on its behalf by: HUTEERKREZGESE
Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam Mr. Ma Kan Sun
REIE 4 BREALLE
Director Director
o o

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
SE)TR

FH_A=1T—HLFE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE—F ——

A 75 L
,Z\\/T\ B fm

Share Share Other Retained
capital premium reserve profits Total
R R aE Hit it REEF @t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000
FET FET FHET FET FET
At 1 January 2020 RZE-TF—F—H 26,000 83,610 600 11,227 221,437
Profit and total comprehensive income FERHENREENEEE
for the year - - - 7,369 7,369
At 31 December 2020 RZEZZF+-RA=1+—H 26,000 83,610 600 118,596 228,806
Loss and total comprehensive ﬁWEﬁE&%@Eﬂ%@%ﬁ
expense for the year - - - (83,186) (83,186)
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+=ZRA=1—H 26,000 83,610 600 35,410 145,620
Notes: BT
a. Share premium represents the excess of the proceeds received over the nominal value of the a. AR 17 5 (B 18 T U ER B FTAS 3R TE + NBRBATARID FTEE A
shares of the Company issued at a premium, less expenses incurred in connection with the HF S - BRREEEITHARR AR EERZELE
issue of the shares
b. Other reserve represents the difference between the cost of acquisition pursuant to the b. HiEEEBREEEEIRARAR((EED RS

acquisition of Pak Fai Engineering Limited (“Pak Fai”) and Ma Yau Engineering Limited (“Ma

Yau") and the total value of share capital of the entity acquired.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

e TRER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE—Z =

—F+-_A=1T—HILFE

2021 2020
—B-—F —EFTF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FEIT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES K EE)
(Loss)/profit before tax BT (&18) e (83,149) 6,977
Adjustments for: R
— Depreciation of property, - BERRERE
plant and equipment 1,736 1,862
— Fair value loss on financial assets - BAHERABRZ
at fair value through profit or loss TREENTEEE 521 -
— Loss on disposals of property, - HEWE - BERXEEE
plant and equipment = 118
— Allowance for impairment losses - BEEERE 9,443 340
— Finance costs - BERKAR 418 382
Operating cash flows before movements LEESEYRIKERSRE
in working capital (71,031) 9,679
Decrease in trade receivables B 5 W R IE R 1,290 18,211
Decrease in other receivables, Hib W HIE « Rek
deposits and prepayments TARRIER D 13,958 23,349
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets BHEERY, () 41,873 (49,317)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables B 5 REMEMAFIEE M Cfd) 22,315 (13,045)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities EHa’Em Cad) 144 (2,078)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations &S (FTR) Be 8,549 (13,201)
Income tax paid EAETSH — (14,468)
Income tax refunded REIFFFHL 17 3
Interest paid BEAFE (63) (40)
Net cash generated from/(used in) RESEBFRE S (FA)
operating activities e FEE 8,503 (27,706)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETE
Increase in pledged bank deposit B IRERI T 3R 0 - (5,000)
Purchase of financial assets at fair BERATE AER
value through profit or loss ZEMEE (3,003) -
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWME - KEKRZE
plant and equipment ZFTSRIE = 306
Net cash used in investing activities RETEFFARSTFE (3,003) (4,694)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows /

S ATH AR =
,Zw\mf/@uﬂi//mi

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

2021 2020
—EB-—F —E-FF
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FET
FINANCING ACTIVITIES RMEEE
New bank borrowings raised ERRITER S 21,708
Repayments of bank borrowings BEIRITER (9,879) (3,923)
Interest paid BEAFIE (355) (342)
Drawdown/(repayments) of bank overdrafts ’RE (BB) RITEX 8,352 (3,794)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BmEEE (FrA)
financing activities B8R &FH (1,882) 13,649
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND ReRRESESEYIEM
CASH EQUIVALENTS () = 3,618 (18,751)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FNRERBSEEY -
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR, ERITERERS
represented by bank balances and cash 5,945 24,696
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRESRESEEY
THE END OF THE YEAR, ERITESERS
represented by bank balances and cash 9,563 5,945

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

I—\—l
WK

1.

BB HRRM T

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE—Z = —

General Information

Hands Form Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company and registered in
the Cayman Islands with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap.22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands on 30 January 2019. The shares of the Company have been
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 16 August 2019. Its immediate
and ultimate holding company is Wonderful Renown Limited
("Wonderful Renown"”), a private limited company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands (“BVI"). The controlling shareholders of the
Company are Mr. Adam Cheung, Ms. LC Cheung and Wonderful
Renown.

The address of the registered office of the Company is Windward
3, Regatta Office Park, PO. Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108,
Cayman Islands and the address of the principal place of business
is Room 9, 2/F Hang Bong Commercial Centre, 28 Shanghai Street,
Jordan, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred as to the “Group”) is principally
engaged in the provision of construction services including wet
trades works (including plastering on floors, walls and ceilings,
tile laying on internal and external walls and floors, brick laying
and marble works) and other wet trades related ancillary works
("Construction Services”) and provision of construction information
technology services (“Construction IT Services”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional currency of the
Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

Application of New and Amendments To
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, Phase 2
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

Application of New and Amendments To
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments

to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments?

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture?

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021!

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020y°

Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction?
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

Application of New and Amendments To
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2018-2020°

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

Application of New and Amendments To
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS T and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure
of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that
the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on
the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may
be material because of the nature of the related transactions, other
events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However,
not all accounting policy information relating to material transactions,
other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to
disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and examples
are added to the Practice Statement.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

Application of New and Amendments To
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS T and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure
of Accounting Policies (Continued)

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group’s significant
accounting policies. The impacts of application, if any, will be
disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated financial statements.

Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4 below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

EHEERABRAT - 2021 FR

2.

FE R el RAEERT BRI
BEEA(EEMBREE
81 1) (&)

2 28 B [ R 4 R 2 HTR] R A
IEE1 &AM B RE R ()
BEGi ENE 1 HREENHHREE
PIEFBERE2 R G BERE T
7 ()

(ISR SCHIRSCEIRS-F RN SE b
MRABKRREEEATE - BrlEFE
AEBEAGHBRRZEE - AHER
FE(WB) KR ARAEENGS MK
HRP T IABEE

BAGHBE
GO FREE

RAEMBHRROCRET LG ASR
2 BB BRELRNRER - BHN - &3
B BHRRBEBRMES EHRA
BB RANERPIFTRE 2 BREESA -

REEEUBREENREFEE B R
KB REMETRRIE  HEXK
BEEGEERAASESHABRNBESD
R FIE o SRR EAE e RS
BRBRE M AT HERAMEHRRM =S
BANBER TXMHME4RE -

RIBETXEHI 2 @A BKRMFHA - A
MHHRENERE PRBRIFE LKA
EERE HETURFEFEZSH
TERIN -

99




\
o

100

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ST e ISR R T

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS 16"), and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—E=-—F+=-A=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies 3. EXEFBEX&)

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers EFeHlE

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation AEER(KE) TENE ERERIK

is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying & IR E B OB TR M RA

the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. Y[R | SE TR R o

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle BHE AR ARERmIRE (X —F

of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or 5| fn sk AR5 ) 3 — R 5 A B R 2 BRHE

services that are substantially the same. R ARES

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time WfFa Ty HAp —IARE - L —

by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the EBREEAER  mlEAE—RERA

relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is S2ECDTREBBARENEEEITHE

met: R

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the . EPRAEERBARRRKER K
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group FRAREEREAMEHAFE
performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that . REERAEIES LR —ENA
the customer controls as the Group performs; or SERANKBHEFEGINEE

59

. the Group’s performance does not create an asset with . REENBAOWEEELAEE
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an mE EBERAENEE - BXE
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to B ¥i25 TR B AT AR #
date. TTHER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”). In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right
to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration (i.e. variation order),
the Group estimates the amount of consideration to which it will
be entitled using either (a) the expected value method or (b) the
most likely amount, depending on which method better predicts the
amount of consideration to which the Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included in the
transaction price only to the extent that it is highly probable that
such an inclusion will not result in a significant revenue reversal
in the future when the uncertainty associated with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates the
estimated transaction price (including updating its assessment of
whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained) to
represent faithfully the circumstances present at the end of the
reporting period and the changes in circumstances during the
reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Specifically, revenue is recognised as follows:

Revenue from provision of wet trades works

The Group provides wet trades works (including plastering on floors,
walls and ceilings, tile laying on internal and external walls and
floors, brick laying and marble works) and other wet trades related
ancillary works under contracts with customers. Such contracts
are entered into before the services begin. Under the terms of the
contracts, the Group is contractually required to perform the services
at the customers’ specified sites that the Group’s performance
creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs. Revenue from provision of such services is therefore
recognised over time using input method, i.e. based on the actual
costs incurred by the Group to date compared with the total
budgeted cost for the project to estimate the revenue recognised
during the period. The directors of the Company consider that input
method would faithfully depict the Group’s performance towards
complete satisfaction of these performance obligations under HKFRS
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15").

Revenue from provision of construction information
technology services

Revenue from provision of construction information technology
services are recognised over time as the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business combinations, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on
the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also
applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ST B B RS R R M5

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies 3. EXEFBEX&)
(Continued)

Leases (Continued) HE(E)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEEERAEEA (B)
Right-of-use assets EREERE
The cost of right-of-use asset includes: EREEENMNAREE
. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability; . HEB BNV ETH
. any lease payments made at or before the commencement . RGBS 2RI N EREE
date, less any lease incentives received; NR - REBEGNERBEEE
=
. any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and . AEEEENEMIFEEK
PN 3
. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in . REERREBERBBEE - Ik
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring the BB EMESIIHBEE
site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset 18 2 18 & IR AR PR R AR
to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the REE A HYHETAA o
lease.
Except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets, the Group REHESEREEEEEMREI A&
recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the ERHERRE (AIEAEERHERZ
lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of- B)BREAEEE - RAREERKR
use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation RWER R E RREEIRTE - Wit
and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease FREFAEHEAGEELHAE -
liabilities.
Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to RNEE & IR & B A SR HUS AR
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the HHEEERARNERAEEE  #F
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of WEERRFRERKIARITE - &
the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a Bl - EAEEEEEBAERFREE
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the EHREE NIRBRATHEITE -
lease term.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ST B B RS R R M5

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies 3. EXEFBEX&)

(Continued)

Leases (Continued) HE(E)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) REBIERAMBA ()

Lease liabilities (Continued) HESE (E)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding ETHBERT AKEEHFERE

adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever: BE(CEHEAGAEEEELAESR

) :

. the lease term has changed or there is a change in the . HEMHBMEITHREE RS
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case EEOFEEREL  EERIER
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the T HBREERBEEBANERNT
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the fit B HA(E A ASIB RT AL IR R AL IR &K
date of reassessment. BRIMENRENRE o

. the lease payments change due to changes in market rental . HENRETSEEEERNOT
rates following a market rent review or expected payment GHEEHRRERKEETH
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the related FEENZmEREY  FERES
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease AT HEEEREEBERY
payments using the initial discount rate. RALIR E AR HENRE

HETE -
Lease modifications HEES
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if: WMHIRATER - NEBKBSETE
RIREFHNEEANR

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding . 1EETEBIEINE AR —EZ I
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and BEENENBAEESE &

. the consideration for the leases increases by an amount . HEEMHRE - BN FEAE
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in ERNBEBEAHENEFERS -
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone MERBREESAONBEREER
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract. BRETHEEERE

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, MAREREBHEARNMBEEREITM

the Group remeasures the lease liability, less any lease incentives T AKEERERBFEAMNMETEXB

receivables, based on the lease term of the modified lease by R ERTRRR KRR RIEFTH E N

discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate NEETHENHERENTEHER

at the effective date of the modification. EREREREHEES -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.
When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received. Government grants are
recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under
“other income”.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF") Scheme are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefits in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries) after deduction of any amount already paid.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from (loss)/profit before tax because of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in

equity respectively.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group
considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority will
accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be use by
individual group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable,
the current and deferred taxes are determined consistently with the
tax treatment in the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the
relevant taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment,
the effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most
likely amount or the expected value.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building elements,
the entire consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and
the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial
recognition. To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-
of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position.
When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-
lease building element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property, plant
and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets
are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units to which the
corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-
generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a
group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the
group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a
provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable
is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement
will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured
reliably.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=-Z = —

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVTOCI™):

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting contractual
cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive income if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS
3 Business Combinations applies.

EHEERABRAT - 2021 FR

3.

ire SRR

FH+-A=+—RHLFE

EXEBE (&)

T E(8&)
EWMEE

ETRMEENDIEREENE
& THIGG 2 2 mE EH B IRBHEK
2N p

s RATREENEBRABMZ
RPBEHRERE R

. SRR EERMESANR
REEAXNAERAREELS
E}‘j*ljum °

HETIIEE 2 e MEERRIEATE

AR 2 I ([ A FEFT AHA

ZHEHWE]FE :

J BHESRMEEMNEBERNEBNZ
ALENBEREHNRSRE &

SOGTREEBHELANER S
MEERXNAERAEBELRS

AR EREERRRAFEFAR

@At 8 BEVEEREREESH
HEARELIFFERE - MIFARE
TEBRBMBERELERNEIRELSH

FriE A e £ EHPERZIARE -
AEB R AT BE D E R EMEE
W5 25 E 2 B8 N EEE) -

119



\ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

120

ire SR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)
A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost and
debt instruments/receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination that the asset is
no longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade receivables,
other receivables and deposits, pledged bank deposit and bank
balances) and contract assets which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments are
done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets. The ECL on these assets is assessed individually for
debtors based on internal credit rating, the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies 3. EXEFBEX&)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) SRTA (&)

Financial assets (Continued) ETREE (8)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) cHMEERE (&)

For all other financial assets, the Group measures the loss allowance A EMEREEMS @ ANEEILE

equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase ER12EATEREEBIENSETEE

in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group BEE  BRIFEERR B VIR IAR

recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL BE LA AASEERIAZHEHREE

should be recognised is based on significant increases in the BiE - M ERERAPEHEES

likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition. BTRIR B VIR HER AR A Z LN Al

et AR ETEE L -

() Significant increase in credit risk () EEREEEEEN
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument FEh s T A B VIR ERIUK
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group EERBEBBEILME - K&
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial EhrRemt TARKRSE BHARR
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default R BB EEN 2Rk -
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of EETHER  AEE®EERS
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group BEEEBEBEXFHNTEERTELEE
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that e BREELKERLREZTER
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience % K AN Sk RS 70 B AT 15 /O AT RE 1%
and forward-looking information that is available without BE o

undue cost or effort.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

S

ignificant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of
default (i.e. no default history), (ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term and (jii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external credit
rating of “investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies 3. EXEFBEX&)

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRTA (&)
Financial assets (Continued) ETREE (8)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) TREERE (E)
(i) Definition of default (i) EHESE
The Group considers the following as constituting an event MR BELBRRARE TIEE
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as B R IE — MR AT YA - R
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet SERRBABEERREEM
either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable. = TIERBRGENSE M -
. when there is a breach of financial covenants by the . WX SHFHTERMBER
counterparty; or oK
. information developed internally or obtained from . W EB AR Edsk B SN ER R TRJE
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to SHERKA  BBAT
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without ANAlgemEEREA (BFREAR
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group). B BHERCRETEAE
SEFANEAERR) o
Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default BERELMADR  AEERR
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days EemEERREROXE - A
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable BEENEH  BRIFELXEEES
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default BRESHEHAIZAEERNE
criterion is more appropriate. AIREE REE - BlfERI °
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a

financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(0 the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over one year past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-
off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default
is based on historical data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not
yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped on the
following basis:

° Nature of financial instruments;

Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure

the constituents of each group continue to share similar
credit risk characteristics.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies 3.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables and contract
assets where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, bank
overdrafts and bank borrowings) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control of the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group.

or

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other

entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(ivy  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies 3. EXEFBEX&)

(Continued)
Related parties (Continued) BEEE S (1)
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: (Continued) W — T REE AT &Y - BIIER REAE
= E R - (B&)
(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions @ AR BALTHRALHE
applies: (Continued) #¥oHZAL: (8)
(V) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the v ZEBAREERELRE
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity ERABNERBNESR
related to the Group; ) 2% Y B Bk 12 12 N 5
gl
(viy  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person (vi) ZERMH @B ALE
identified in (a); bl S EE I
(vi)  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence (vii) R (@)() BT Y A T ¥ 5%
over the entity or is a member of the key management EREEATE  HAZ
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); ER(NZERBNERF])
and METBEBEEAS : &
(vii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a (vii) MAEEFIANEEHER
part, provides key management personnel services to AIRHEITZETEABRE
the Group or to the parent of the Group. NERBIEMBEEEMNT

G4V

Close members of the family of a person are those family members ZATHERAZATEHZEBETR
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person SEAHATEZATHRAZE IR
in their dealings with the entity. RERKE °
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

4,

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, management is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

Revenue recognition from provision of
Construction Services

The Group recognises contract revenue and profit of Construction
Services according to the management's estimation of the total
outcome of the project as well as the progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation measured based on input
method. Notwithstanding that management reviews and revises the
estimates of both contract revenue and costs for the Construction
Services as the contract progresses, the actual outcome of the
contract in terms of its total revenue and costs may be higher or
lower than the estimates and this will affect the revenue and profit
recognised.

4,
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables
and contract assets

The Group recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets using individual assessment, based on the internal credit
rating, the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date. The amount of the
impairment loss based on ECL model is measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition. Where the future cash flows are
less than expected, or being revised downward due to changes in
facts and circumstances, a material impairment loss may arise.

EHEERABRAT - 2021 FR
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5.

PSRRI

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #ZE—=ZF—

(@) Revenue

0)

—F+=A=+—AILEE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. W&EkonIPEFR
(a) W=
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with () EFEXNWmSE
customers
2021 2020
—E=—F —TEF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Type of service AR m A
Construction Services BRI 117,156 304,965
Construction IT Services REE MBI ARTE 300 -
117,456 304,965
Type of customer EREER
Private sector projects FL S RIIE B
— Construction Services — EERE 55,966 304,904
— Construction IT Services - BEE MR IRTE 300 -
Public sector projects NEFRRIIEE
— Construction Services - JREERRTE 61,190 61
117,456 304,965
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 &

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(@) Revenue (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

The Group derives its revenue from provision of wet
trades works and other wet trades related ancillary
works and provision of construction information
technology services are recognised over time. All
the Group’s services are rendered directly with the
customers. Contracts with the Group’s customers are
agreed in fixed-price with terms from 1 month to 32
months.

Details of the Group's performance obligation in
contracts with customers are described in Note 3.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with customers
that remain outstanding as at reporting date and the
expected timing of recognising revenue are set out as
below:

Provision of wet trades works I1ER#tEk T
— Within one year - —FA

5.

4= —=

Wk o ERER ()

(a)

)

e
(ii)

(%&)
EFENNEHNEE

AEE B ERENRKT
BEREMEKEBEE L
TR A M S E SRR AR 75
R 15 B U o BE B AR
R AEEEREAEFIE
BB RS - NREBEEP
BRTIZEEEBRIHE -
S EAZE32MEA -

AEENEFPAENEBENE
EFRNMEES ©

(i) PEEEFPEH(RHEH

B AR ER) BA T BB T

HI AR 3 (B K T8 B R R U 35

RRFEIESI0T ¢

2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$000
FHET FET
21,049 46,519
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5.

PSRRI

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Revenue (Continued)

(iii)  (Continued)
The Group has applied the practical expedient
under HKFRS 15 to its contracts for the provision of
construction information technology services such that
the above information does not include information
about revenue that the Group will be entitled to when
it satisfies the remaining performance obligations
under the contracts for the provision of construction
information technology services that had an original
expected duration of one year or less.

Segment reporting
Information is reported to the executive directors of the
Company, who are also the chief operating decision maker
("CODM") of the Group, for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses
on types of services provided.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
commenced the business in provision of construction
information technology services, and it is considered as a new
operating and reportable segment by the CODM.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the CODM
reviews the overall results and financial performance of the
Group as a whole. Accordingly, only entity-wide disclosures
on revenue, major customers and geographical information
are presented in accordance with HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments for the year ended 31 December 2020.

5.

Wk o ERER ()

(a)

(b)

iz (48)

(i) (&)
AEBEHHEHRZEESR
AR RBHNEOERE
BRG] SE 155718
THEREELE AR
tRERABREAARE
BEEITRERAHRS
—FRATRERZEEAR
MEREH G KE T RIER
BHEEE{ERESK
HmH)EH} o

okk
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—ZE=-—F+=-A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WmkoIER (&)
(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) 2 EPHRE ()
Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8 BREME  AREREESUER
are (i) Construction Services; and (i) Construction IT Services. EAERIZE 8IRA A 23R DI04 () iF
RIS ¢ R () BREEARRE -
()  Segment revenues and results (i) DHUBERFEE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue UNTAREEKRITZ2HmSD
and results by reportable segments: HErmbhamREED
T

BE-_Z-_—+=H
=t+—HLEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Construction Construction

Services IT Services Consolidated
EEEN
EERE R wE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEIT FET FET
Segment revenue 2 EB I 2
— External - SNER 117,156 300 117,456
Segment results DEEE (78,844) 1 (78,843)
Interest income A BULA 1
Unallocated other income RoOBEEMEA 169
Unallocated corporate expenses KB A BRI (3,537)
Fair value loss on BAFEFTABRZ SR
financial assets at FVTPL BEZANFEEE (521)
Finance costs BRE A (418)
Loss before tax FrEE A ES1E (83,149)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE —& ——

5.

B %5 R BT ot

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

0)

(ii)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)
There are no inter-segment sales for the year. All of
the segment revenue reported above is from external
customers.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described
in Note 3. Segment results represents the profit/(loss)
from each segment without allocation of interest
income, unallocated other income, unallocated
corporate expenses, fair value loss on financial assets
at FVTPL and finance costs. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities

The CODM makes decisions according to operating
results of each segment. No analysis of segment
assets and liabilities is presented as the CODM does
not regularly review such information for the purposes
of resources allocation and performance assessment.
Therefore, only segment revenue and segment results
are presented.

F+_A=+—HILFE
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. W#&EKkoHESR (&)

(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) RS (8)
(iliy  Other segment information (i) HfpIpER
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZ-_Z-_—+=-AH
=t+—HLFE
Construction  Construction
Services IT Services  Unallocated  Consolidated
BEER
BERK B AR OB &8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FHET FET
Depreciation of property, R
plant and equipment RETME 1,167 - 569 1,736
(Reversal of)/allowance for B S RMEERERE
impairment losses on trade receivables  (#[El) /#f (201) 3 : (198)
Allowance for impairment BRNEERE
losses on contract assets EiERE 9,641 - - 9,641
(iv)  Geographical information (iv) BEEFHER
The Group principally operates in Hong Kong, which AEETFENER (AR
is also its place of domicile. The Group’s non-current JRIEH) K EE - NEE
assets are all located in Hong Kong. ZIEMBBEEDUNES o
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(v) Information about major customers
Revenue from customers individually contributing over
10% of the total revenue of the Group during the

5. WmRkoMBEFR (&)

(b) ZEdHRE ()
() BRXEEFHER
FR - REERGEAES
BRI 10% A P 1)

year are as follows: &y UNNE
2021 2020
—EF —ECFF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Customer I ZAI 60,673 N/A 5@ AR 2
Customer II' BRI 27,414 N/A N3 3 2
Customer III" = 12,747 122,749
Customer IV BV 12,420 64,075
Customer V! BEE VW N/A FEH? 68,458
: Revenue from Construction Services. : REEERFB M o
2 Revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of 2 W & MRS R E A&

the Group for the corresponding reporting period.

BB T BB 10% °
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

6. OTHER INCOME 6. HMUA
2021 2020
—EB-F —EEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Interest income FLEWA 1 48
Sundry income FEIEWA 169 340
Government subsidies (Note) B BN (MisE) 20 13,067
190 13,455
Note:  The Group recognised government subsidies in respect of the Construction Industry fiizr : AEEBRRREEZGNREEEH IR
Council's Construction Business Support Scheme, Employment Support Scheme 2l - AR EEATEFE COVID-19 & 1B M2
and Employment Support Scheme for the Construction Sector under Anti-epidemic FrEfEERE T [RHEE FHEIREEE R
Fund of the Hong Kong SAR Government due to the COVID-19 pandemic. B | BT ©
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BERK
2021 2020
—EB-—F —E-TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Interest on ATEIEZFE
— Bank overdrafts - RITIHEX 63 40
- Bank borrowings - RITIER 355 342
418 382
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

8.

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8. BR®iAI(EE), EF
2021 2020
—EB-—F —E-TF
HK$000 HK$000
FET FET
(Loss)/profit before tax has been arrived BrBAT (E51R) S5 F T4k
at after charging: AT BIAEER
Auditors’ remuneration 1% A BN 820 830
Depreciation of property, M - BERREITE
plant and equipment
— Recognised as cost of services — R BERIGHK A 1,167 1,293
— Recognised as administrative expenses - BERBITHAXZ 569 569
Total depreciation ERsE 1,736 1,862
Directors’ emoluments (Note 10) EEME (HFE10) 2,002 2,188
Other staff costs HAth 8 TpA
— Salaries and other benefits - Fre REAEF 4,421 9,744
— Contributions to retirement benefit scheme - BKEHETEI4t T 153 338
6,576 12,270
Loss on disposals of property, HEWE - BERFEEE
plant and equipment - 118
Cost of materials and toolings R ARG AT R
recognised as cost of services T AR 509 2,016
Subcontracting fees recognised ERRBRBKAN S EEER
as cost of services 172,287 279,871
Rental expense on short-term leases BE  WAYERMIEEIEE
in respect of warehouse, WESMAX
office premises and machines 254 1,332
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 9. FEEAX/ (E&)
2021 2020
—E-—fF —EEF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Income tax expense/(credit) comprises: FTisBiFx / (Ek)BE
Hong Kong Profits Tax: FEMEH
— Current year - REE - =
— Over-provision in prior years - BEFERERE (23) (169)
(23) (169)
Deferred tax (Note 21): RIETIA (e 21) ¢ 60 (223)
37 (392)
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group HRAREREBZE T -_—FR=-_Z=
has no assessable profits derived from or arising in Hong Kong TFEF+ A=+ —HLEFELERES
during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. EESRBEBENEIHAE - I E

PEBAEHIELEE -
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 9. FrBFiBX/ (E&)(E)
(Continued)
The income tax expense/(credit) for the year can be reconciled to the FEMBSHRES / (BR)Bigs1855 N
(loss)/profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or Hih 2 RAORBIAT (E518) & T
loss and other comprehensive income as follows: HERWOT
2021 2020
—B-—fF —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FAET
(Loss)/profit before tax KRR (E1E) %A (83,149) 6,977
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of BREBNEHNE16.5%
16.5% (2020: 16.5%) (ZZE=Z4F :16.5%)
FTERTHIE (13,720) 1,151
Tax effect of income not taxable BARTBMARNRBZE
for tax purpose (3) (2,164)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible PRI M 2
for tax purpose 196 58
Tax effect of temporary difference AEREREZEENRBTE
not recognised 1,817 (201)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERTIEEBENT R E 11,770 933
Over-provision in prior years BEFEBEERE (23) (169)
Income tax expense/(credit) for the year FRFAE/HREY / (Ee) 37 (392)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

10. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s 10.

Emoluments and Employees’
Emoluments

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
The emoluments paid or payable to the directors and chief executive
of the Company by entities comprising the Group are as follows:

EERBSTBRAEMER
ETM<E

EERESTHAEME
BRARENERC A RENADTE
ERBETRABNHEIT ;

Salaries Contributions
and Discretionary to retirement
Fees allowances bonuses  benefit scheme Total
Bt FeREE MERA  BIMEREIMRS @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiE7 FE7 FE7 FET FET
For the year ended BE-E2--F
31 December 2021 +ZA=+-HILEE
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Adam Cheung REA - 710 - 18 728
Mr. Ng Sheung Chung R4 - 498 21 18 537
Mr. Ma Kan Sun SRALE - 360 15 18 393
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Chong Kan Kin (Note (i) EYRTE(ER() 56 = = = 56
Independent non-executive ~ BUKHTES
directors
Mr. Pak Shek Kuen ASHETE 9% - - - 96
Mr. Lo Chi Hung by St 9% - - - 96
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung GEE s 9% - - - 96
344 1,568 36 54 2,002
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10. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s 10. EERBETHAEMESR
Emoluments and Employees’ ETM<E (&)
Emoluments (Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments EERESTHRAEME (8)

(Continued)

Salaries Contributions
and Discretionary to retirement
Fees allowances bonuses benefit scheme Total
e el WEEA  RIEMGTEIRT ot
HK$'000 HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
For the year ended HEZZ-ZE
31 December 2020 +ZA=+—-ALEE
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Adam Cheung REA - 720 - 18 738
Mr. Ng Sheung Chung R4 - 504 50 18 572
Mr. Ma Kan Sun SREALE - 357 28 18 403
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Chong Kan Kin (Note (i) EYTE(ER() 91 = = = 91
Independent non-executive ~ BUKHTES
directors
Mr. Pak Shek Kuen AHETE 136 = = = 136
Mr. Lo Chi Hung by it 136 - - - 136
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung CEEFiks 112 - - - 112
475 1,581 78 54 2,188
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

10. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s

Emoluments and Employees’
Emoluments (Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(Continued)
Notes:
(i) Mr. Chong Kan Kin was appointed as an non-executive director on 24 April 2020

and resigned on 1 August 2021.

(ii) Mr. Adam Cheung acts as chief executive of the Company and his emoluments
disclosed above included those for services rendered by him as the chief executive
in management of the affairs of the Group.

(iii) The discretionary bonus is determined by reference to the duties and responsibilities
of the relevant individual within the Group and the Group’s performance.

(iv) No other retirement benefits were paid to directors in respect of their respective
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiaries undertaking.

(v) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in
connection with the management affairs of the Company and the Group.

(vi) The non-executive director and independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the Company.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office. Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors
has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year
included two directors (2020: two directors), details of whose
emoluments are disclosed above.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

10. Directors’ and Chief Executive's 10.
Emoluments and Employees’
Emoluments (Continued)

Employees’ emoluments (Continued)
The emoluments in respect of the remaining three (2020: three)
highest paid individuals during the year are as follows:

EERBSTBRAEMER
ETM<E (&)

ETME (E)
NER > BREH=F(ZT_TF : =
B)mEFALTZHEOT

2021 2020

—E-—F e Sl S

HK$000 HK$°000

FET FET

Salaries, allowances and other benefits in kind ¥4 - 285 R E M BN = 1,754 2,025
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 64 80
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme BRIREFIET IR 45 36
1,863 2,141

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the emoluments of the
five highest paid individuals including two (2020: two) directors, are
within following band:

Emolument band Bz E
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 2% 1,000,000 % 7T

RBE-_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—HIF
B AAEeFAL(BERE(ZZE=
EFE:MB)ES) 2SN TUTE
:

Number of individuals

AE
2021 2020
B —F BT
5 5

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no
emoluments was paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals of the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the
directors of the Company or any of the five highest paid individuals
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2020.

REE-_Z-_—FREK-T_TF+=A
=+T—HLEFE AXEEHERLRIEE
hEmEHFATHHERA TN ERA
e (EANMAREESIRINARSEE
BB B BAE N2 T = —
ERZTE_FTF+A=+T—HLF
B ARRZEERAZREFALIFN
FRI AT ERES R ERET RS -
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11. Dividends 1. RE
No dividend was paid, declared or proposed for ordinary REBEEZZT-_—F+ZA=+—HIF
shareholders of the Company during the year ended 31 December EA - ARAER T BRRRES A -
2021, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the SRS ERREEMARE - BREHE
reporting period (2020: Nil). RENTEZBRETARE(ZE=E
Fom|) o
12. (Loss)/Earnings Per Share 12. BR(EE) EZF
The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share attributable to STEARAREA AEGERER(EER),
owners of the Company is based on the following data: BATHERIATEUE
2021 2020
—B-—F —T_THF
(Loss)/earnings (E8|) BF
(Loss)/earnings for the purpose of ARTEERER (EE)
basic (loss)/earnings per share ((loss)/profit BRI (E18) BHF (KRAF]
for the year attributable to owners WA AELERN (B18) #5)
of the Company) (HK$'000) (F%7T) (83,186) 7,369
2021 2020
—E-—F ZEZEF
Number of shares RGHO&E
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ~ FARFTESREAR (F18)
for the purpose of basic (loss)/earnings BRI AR IR T B
per share (in thousand) (Fh&) 2,600,000 2,600,000
No diluted (loss)/earnings per share is presented as there were no BE_Z_—FR-_Z_FTF+_H
potential dilutive shares in issue during the years ended 31 December =T—HIEFE  aREEED #17
2021 and 2020. BERG - B E25FREE (B18)
/ B o
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment 13. Y% -  BEKRRE
Leasehold Machinery
land and and Office
buildings Fixtures  equipment  equipment Total
HELH
REF HE  HENRE YN st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Cost B
At 1 January 2020 RNZ—ZT-TF—F—H 8,029 2,188 4,527 65 14,809
Additions NE - - 2,652 - 2,652
Written off s - - (1,237) = (1,237)
At 31 December 2020 RIBZBF+-A=+-HAR
and 31 December 2021 “E--F+ZA=t—-H 8,029 2,188 5,942 65 16,224
Accumulated depreciation RiHE
At 1 January 2020 R-—E-E%—HA—H 1,547 215 1,808 65 3,635
Charge for the year FRFEL 160 409 1,293 = 1,862
Written off s - - (813) = (813)
At 31 December 2020 RZE-ZF+-A=+—-H 1,707 624 2,288 65 4,684
Charge for the year FRFEY 160 409 1,167 = 1,736
At 31 December 2021 R=B--F+=A=1+-A 1,867 1,033 3,455 65 6,420
Carrying values REE
At 31 December 2021 RZZB-_-&#+-A=1+-H 6,162 1,155 2,487 - 9,804
At 31 December 2020 RZZZZFE+-A=+t—H 6,322 1,564 3,654 - 11,540
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 13. #1% - BEKEE (&)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, after taking into i - REREEBER LT RERE
account the residual values, are depreciated on a straight-line basis B KAERERAGRAFEHRAER
over the following useful lives: E:
Leasehold land and buildings 50 years MELHRIEF  504F
Fixtures Shorter of 5 years and % SEREEHR

lease term (AR E R%E)
Machinery and equipment 4 years e 44
Office equipment 5 years PN 54

14. Financial Assets at Fair Value Through 14. BAFEiABGZZETRME

Profit or Loss E
2021 2020
—E-—F —EB-FHF
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET FET
Key management personnel FEEEBAE
life insurance policy ASRE 2,482 -
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14.

15.

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through
Profit or Loss (Continued)

The Group entered into a life insurance policy with an insurance
company to insure against the death and permanent disability of an
executive director. Under the policy, the beneficiary and policy holder
are Pak Fai Engineering Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, and
the total insured sum is the higher of (i) approximately US$404,000
(equivalent to HK$3,153,000); or (ii) guaranteed cash value and
special bonus (if any); and the accumulated annual dividends and
interest (if any). The contracts will be terminated on the occurrence
of the earliest of the death of the key management personnel
insured or other terms pursuant to the contracts. The Group has paid
out the total insurance premium with an amount of approximately
US$385,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$3,003,000) at the
inception of the policy. The Group may request a surrender of the
contracts at any time and receive cash back based on the cash
value at the date of withdrawal, which is determined by the gross
premium paid at inception plus accumulated annual dividends and
interest (if any) and minus insurance charges (the “Cash Value”).
The fair value is based on redemption value quoted by the insurance
company.

Trade Receivables

Trade receivables, net

B 5 UG IR F R

14.

15.

BAFEFABERSZETHE
E (&)

AEEE—FERRARFIZASIRE -
B—ZBHRITEEMIT MKARKE
R RBRE  RARRERFAR
BEIRBRAA(ARA—FHMNEBA
A)) MAKRRESEAUATMEZESE
(i) #7404,000 3 7T ( 48 %5 72 493,153,000
BIT) ¢ )V REBIR S EEREFRIALF
(nh) : AR ZFTFERS RFE (40
)  AHBEIREBEEABIT
BHRENHMERPREZERFTIA
KIE - AEBERREMABIZFRIR
% #9385,000 3 7T (#8 % 14 493,003,000
BIT) o ANEE PR EJGRIR - WRE
RRAMBESEERERS  EMEE
THR B IR IR IR AR B BB N
S FERENFE (E) RINKBRRE
EAE((REEEL - AFEURR
NRIFTREREEAER -

B 5 BRI

2021 2020
—E—F —ECFF
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FHET
8,806 9,898
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Trade Receivables (Continued)

As at 1 January 2020, trade receivables at net arising from contracts
with customers amounted to approximately HK$28,158,000.

The Group grants credit terms to customers for a period ranging
from 0 — 60 days from the invoice date for trade receivables. The
following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, net of impairment
loss allowance, presented based on the invoice date at the end of
the reporting period:

15.

B 5 EWFE ()

N

Pl

—E-TE—F—HB KAEFAEY
B 5 WG TEFREA) 4 28,158,000 78

o

SN

AEEREPETZEEHBEZEK
REZHZARENF0E60K > A
TAEZEMFIARNRRERBERE)
RBEHRRIBFHZARZ2NRED
#r

2021 2020

—EB-—F —E-TF

HK$000 HK$°000

FET TFrET

Within 30 days 30BERA 3,699 8,898
31 days to 60 days 31HE60H 4,515 291
61 days to 90 days 61HZ90H - =
Over 90 days B3390 H 592 709
8,806 9,898

As at 31 December 2021, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount
of approximately HK$889,000 (2020: HK$1,000,000) which are
past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
HK$517,000 (2020: HK$709,000) has been past due 90 days or
more and is not considered as in default based on good payment
history and the Group is still engaging with the debtor in an active
project. The Group does not charge interest nor hold any collateral
over the balances.

EHEERABRAT - 2021 FR

R-E-_—F+-_A=+—8 K&H
ZESRUGEEHEREEREAAEN A
889,000/ 7L ( = Z =< 4 : 1,000,000
BT M EINGRIE - AR RS B EE
BHR o M@ ERAE R - 517,0008 T (=
T T4 709,000/ T) 2@ HEI0 A
LA E - TR RE R TR KR8 R A
EEDEERARGRET—EEE @ 1t
W AR BIEH o ZN5 B I M8 k45 SR UL ER
B IF B RS o

155




\ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

156

ire SR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—E=-—F+=-A=+—HILFE

15. Trade Receivables (Continued) 15.

Impairment assessment subject to ECL model

The Group applies simplified approach to measure ECL prescribed by
HKFRS 9. To measure the ECL of trade receivables, trade receivables
have been assessed based on individual assessment.

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group applied
individual assessment for its customers. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade
receivables which are assessed individually as at 31 December 2021
and 2020.

As at 31 December 2021

B 5 EWFE ()

RIBEFAHEEBERENETR
B4

RSB LT R B R AR B R
BB IRMENEHIEEEAE - Bt
RESBUHRENEREERE  BS
FEMCERIEE R I T A o

ERAEEEERREEREY R A
SEHEZFEMAMERFMG - TRE
SR —_—FR_F_FTF+_H
=+ BABETEMNFENE S EK
KB EERRNBMEEEHRZER -

As at 31 December 2020

R-ZB-—%+-A=+-H R-ZE-TF+_A=1—H
Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
Range of carrying loss carrying loss
loss rate amount allowance amount allowance
BEXHE IREAE REBERE REEE REBRERF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FHET FET FET
Internal credit rating
REMEERR
Low risk* 2021:0.01% - 0.86%
(KR * ZZTZ—%:0.01%-0.86%
— Lifetime ECL (2020: 0.01% - 7.48%) 8,874 68 10,164 266
not credit- (ZZ=FF 1 0.01%-7.48%)
impaired
- 2HEHEEER
AEEEERE
@ Referring to debtors have a low risk of default and do not have any prior default * EEBABIRZ AR &I ] L ATRY B LY

records and are considered as not credit- impaired.

LHEARA/LEZEEERENEBA
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Trade Receivables (Continued)

Impairment assessment subject to ECL model
(Continued)

The expected loss rates are estimated based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life of the debtors and internal
credit rating by reference to a study of other corporates’ default
and recovery data from international credit rating agencies, and
are adjusted for forward-looking information (for example, the
current and forecasted economic growth rates in Hong Kong, which
reflect the general economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate) that is available without undue costs or efforts.
Such forward-looking information is used by the directors of the
Company to assess both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at each of the reporting date.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recognised
a net reversal of impairment losses of approximately HK$198,000
(2020: a net impairment losses of HK$49,000), based on individual
assessment.

The movement in the impairment loss allowance in respect of trade
receivables during the year was as follows.

15.

ire SRR

FH+-A=+—RHLFE

B 5 EWFE ()

RIBEHEEBEENE
B ()
EHB AR DENERER 2 BHFH
RERFGZELEOE - URABE
B R (2 ERE TR REEE e
i 0 REWEE 2 ) Wik - w5
BAMERUEZ KAREN TS
SIRAEAH (A 8 NIRRT AR R
& A RIRERAEE TR
B IEH R - ARAEERNER
£ B HA4E PR A AT M R ST 2 BT A
RIBARR o

TR

REBEEZZT-_—F+ZA=+—HLIF
B AEEREER T EERRERE
B[O FE847198,0008 L (S _FF :
BB E 1R/ FEE 49,0008 7T) ©

RERE S RKE
R -

IE BB R R A

Impairment loss

allowance

AEBERE

HK$°000

T#ET

At 1 January 2020 W-ZZE_TF—H—H 217
Impairment losses reversed B EREESE 217)
Impairment losses recognised ERERRERE 266
At 31 December 2020 RZZE_TF+=-A=+—H 266
Impairment losses reversed BB EIREREE (266)
Impairment losses recognised ERRBEEE 68
At 31 December 2021 R-B-—-§+=ZA=+—8 68
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16. Other Receivables, Deposits and 16. HWEWRIE - REREN

Prepayments FRIE

2021 2020

—E-—F —EB-FHF

HK$’000 HK$°000

FHET FET

Other receivables and deposits HAbFEWRIE RigRE 333 604

Prepayments (Note) FEfF A (k) 27,497 41,184

27,830 41,788

Note:  The balance mainly represents prepayment to certain subcontractors which are Mizr : BRERFEERENTETSBREEMNKE

expected to be utilised within six months after the reporting period. TEER R R Hif& 7N 8 B S A o
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17. Contract Assets/Liabilities 17. ERNEE AfE

The following is the analysis of the contract assets and contract NTREHNEEREHNBBE 2O -

liabilities:

2021 2020

B —F —ETF

HK$'000 HK$000

FET FET

Contract assets BHEE 138,583 180,456
Less: Impairment loss allowance W B EEERE (10,945) (1,304)
127,638 179,152

Contract liabilities AHaE (231) (87)

As at 1 January 2020, contract assets at net and contract liabilities
amounted to approximately HK$130,126,000 and HK$2,165,000,
respectively.

Contract assets

Amounts represent the Group’s rights to considerations from
customers for the provision of Construction Services, which arise
when: (i) the Group completed the relevant services under such
contracts; or (i) the customers withhold certain amounts payable to
the Group as retention money to secure the due performance of the
contracts for a period of generally 12 months (defect liability period)
after completion of the relevant works. Any amount previously
recognised as a contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables at
the point at which it becomes unconditional.

EHEERABRAT - 2021 FR

R_E-_ZTF—F—H ANEEFE
ME#HaEDRI%E130,126,000 7 7T
%.2,165,000/8 7T °

BHEE
BHEEEASBEREZERBMRE
FWEBRERNERN  ZERETIR )
AEBEXZEFA KR TOERRTY
(i) FPRIENAKEE D S BIER
RE & ARBRAERE TI2ERIE— B
B (—MB12EA) (RIEGREH) ZEE
TRNMEL - KRR SANEEN
EREBEEEERBEERTREROER
B PR FIR -
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17.

Contract Assets/Liabilities (Continued)

Contract assets (Continued)
The Group’s contract assets are analysed as follows:

BHREE BE ()

BHEE (&)

AREENSOEEDIITIT

2021 2020
—EB-—F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Construction Services contracts — current BERBEL - RE
Unbilled revenue* A B * 110,180 149,035
Retention receivables U IR [E 5 17,458 30,117
127,638 179,152
* It represented the revenue not yet been billed to the customers which the Group * HERAKER TRZEEHETOEBRE

has completed the relevant services under such contracts but yet certified by
representatives appointed by the customers.

Changes of contract assets were mainly due to changes in: (1) the
amount of retention receivables in accordance with the number of
ongoing and completed contracts under the defect liability period;
and (2) the size and number of contracts in respect of Construction
Services that the relevant services were completed but yet certified by
representatives appointed by the customers at the end of reporting
period.

The Group’s retention receivables included in the Group’s contract
assets will be settled at the expiry of the defect liability period of the
relevant contracts or in accordance with the terms specified in the
relevant contracts. The balances are classified as current as they are
expected to be received in its normal operating cycle.

BRRAFEFPARMNNKE  MzFEERR
REFEENRRKE -

BRBEEZESHTIEARN  ()VREBET
P RERREETHANNE TXE O
ENRERESERE  RQREBEHR
B EEREER KRBT PEENRK
RZBRERGEONRERUELS) -

AEESNEETNASERKRE S
KR RA & ) 2 BB B T HIE m S 5%
RIS KRIAZIRREE - ZFEH
DE/RE - RASEBEHHN —RE
SIBMARE -
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17. Contract Assets/Liabilities (Continued) 17. GHEBE &&E (&)
Contract assets (Continued) BREE (B)
Impairment assessment subject to ECL model REFEHEEBERIETHERT
&
The Group applies simplified approach to measure ECL prescribed by REBERABET A EETAVBRS
HKFRS 9. To measure the ECL of contract assets, contract assets have EREIFIRTHNTEIEEEIE - A5t
been assessed based on individual assessment. EANEEMNTESREERE - 2&@ER

FHEEER S LB EEITRME -

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group applied ERAEEGFEERRBRERAF R K
internal credit rating for its customers. The following table provides SEHARFPEAATSEETR - T&
information about the exposure to credit risk and ECL for contract HIR T —FR-_FT_FTF+_-A
assets which are assessed individually as at 31 December 2021 and =+ BEBETEMNFHNENEE
2020. ZIEERR MEREEERZER
As at 31 December 2021 As at 31 December 2020
R-ZB--%£+=A=+—-H R-Z-EF+_A=1—H
Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
Range of carrying loss carrying loss
loss rate amount allowance amount allowance
BEEEE HREAE REBREE REE REBRER
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FHET FET FEr
Internal credit rating
R EETR
Low risk* 2021:0.01% - 2.72%
(B * k- S S
0.01% -2.72%
— Lifetime ECL, (2020: 0.01% - 7.48%) ﬂ . m __179577 1%
not credit- (ZZ2%F:
impaired 0.01% - 7.48%)
- 2GRS
REEEERAE
In default** 2021: 57.85% (2020: 58%) ﬂ ﬂ _879 _510
EH “Z—F:57.85%
(ZZZFF 1 58%)
- Lifetime ECL,
credit-
impaired
-2 HEHEEEE
?éi{:l /)—JM
* Referred to debtors have a low risk of default and do not have any prior default e EEBABIRZ AR &I ] L ATRVZ A
records and are considered as not credit-impaired. Wi AR AW |BEEFERENEBA -
G Referred to debtors have evidence indicating the assets are credit-impaired. 3 EEEEBREREEEREEERENER
/\ o
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17.

Contract Assets/Liabilities (Continued) 17. GHEBE &&E (&)
Contract assets (Continued) BHEE (&)
Impairment assessment subject to ECL model (Continued) BIEAREESEBEERETRERT
& (48)
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recognised RBE_T_—F+_-_A=+—HIF
a net impairment loss of approximately HK$9,641,000 (2020: B - AEBREER G ERRERE
HK$291,000), based on individual assessment. FEEA9,641,0008 T(ZE-Z F -
291,000 #7T) °
The movement in the impairment loss allowance in respect of FRN - GREEZREEBEREZ SN
contract assets during the year was as follows: I
Impairment loss allowance
AEEERE
Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired Total
FEERE EERE et
HKE 000 HKE 000 HKE 000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2020 R—E-_EF—H—H 1,013 - 1,013
Transfer to credit-impaired ST S ERE (20) 20 =
Impairment losses reversed B EREEE (877) = (877)
Impairment losses recognised BERRERE 678 490 1,168
At 31 December 2020 RZE_TF+_-_A=+—H 794 510 1,304
Transfer to credit-impaired EEREEERE (100) 100 =
Impairment losses reversed B EREEE (579) (1) (580)
Impairment losses recognised BEERBESE 796 9,425 10,221
At 31 December 2021 R=ZB-_—%+=-A=+—H 911 10,034 10,945
Contract liabilities BHRAEE
The Group’s contract liabilities are analysed as follows: REEZANBEITAT -
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Construction Services contracts — current BEREEL - 231 87
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Contract Assets/Liabilities (Continued)

Contract liabilities (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the contract liabilities arise
from provision of Construction Services mainly represent the excess
portion of certified revenue over the recognised revenue, the balance
will be recognised as revenue for the year ending 31 December 2022
and 2021, respectively.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

Revenue recognised that was included
in the contract liabilities balance
at the beginning of the year

BRI

17.

FURAB B ESRD

ire SRR

FH+-A=+—RHLFE

BHREE BE ()

BHNEE(E)

RZE-Z—FR=-ZT=-_ZF+=A
=+—B RHBEERBELENEDHE
EF ZIEE AR GEFHHEZBRED
BEEy BRAGREIIREE=T
T ERZTE—F+ZA=+t—HL
FREER AW -

TRIFEERRSETREESNAE
BRI E TR o

2021 2020
—E-F —ECFTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

- 2,078

Pledged Bank Deposit/Bank Balances and
Cash

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s bank deposit was pledged
as collateral for the Group’s banking facilities. The interest rate on
pledged bank deposit was approximately 0.12% (2020: 0.05%) per
annum. This deposit has a maturity within one month (2020: one
month).

Bank balances and cash are interest-free or at nominal rate as at 31
December 2021 and 2020.

EHEERABRAT - 2021 FR

18.

BIEFRITER RITER
kR

RZZEZ—F+ZA=+—0H ' ~&H
WIRITHEREBRIERAEERITHE
IR G - EEBBRITHEROFENEL
7012% (ZZTZFF : 0.05%) - Z17

FOHRAE—EA(ZEZF : —@
ﬂ)mo

RZEZ—FRZZEFF+ A
=+—H RITEHKFASHAEEK
Tﬁmﬁﬁj—'—u‘f 8 o
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19. Trade and Other Payables

—— G- A=—HILEE

19. ESZRHEHMENKIE

2021 2020

—EB-F —EEF

HK$000 HK$'000

FAET FET

Trade payables E S IR 26,921 4,174
Payroll and MPF payables T&EREBERENKIE 434 606
Accrued expenses FEETRISZ 1,629 1,892
Others HAtb 28 25
2,091 2,523

Total FEE 29,012 6,697

The credit period on purchases from suppliers is 30 days or payable

upon delivery.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based

on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

BRERBEENEERN R0 ARERRZ

B -

AT REZERNFRIBRBEARREE

SRHZINNRE DT :

2021 2020

—E-—F ZETF

HK$'000 HK$°000

FET TET

Within 30 days 30BRA 15,182 4,174
31 days to 60 days 31HZ60H 5,224 -
61 days to 90 days 61HZE90H 6,515 -
26,921 4,174
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20. Bank Overdrafts/Bank Borrowings 20. RITEX RITEK
2021 2020
—EC-F —ET-TF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Bank overdrafts RITEX 8,373 21
Bank borrowings — secured IRITER - BEA 7,906 17,785
16,279 17,806
2021 2020
—E-F —EB-FHF
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET FET
The carrying amounts of bank overdrafts A REZREERRORT
and bank borrowings that contain FEX RRITEFNEEE
a repayment on demand clause (RRBBEETIIR)
(shown under current liabilities) MEFZ AT B BREE *
but repayable*:
— within one year - —FR 9,515 12,094
— within a period of more than one year but - A —FEDRRFEREREA
not exceeding two years 1,174 4,009
— within a period of more than two years but - BBEREEDRAFHEREA
not exceeding five years 3,722 1,703
— within a period of more than five years - HBiR A FHY BRI 1,868 -
16,279 17,806
e The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan 4 ZEHRBEBUE R BER AT ERA A
agreements. gz% o
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20. Bank Overdrafts/Bank Borrowings
(Continued)

Notes:

(i) Bank overdrafts carry interests at market rates of Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate (“HIBOR") plus 2% (2020: HIBOR plus 2%) per annum, also the effective
interest rate, and were repayable on demand.

(ii) The Group’s bank borrowings of approximately HK$7,906,000 (2020:
HK$17,785,000) as at 31 December 2021 contained a repayment on demand
clause.

(iii) As at 31 December 2021, the banking facilities of the Group were secured by the

(1) legal charge over the leasehold land and buildings with carrying amounts of
approximately HK$6,162,000 (Note 13), (2) pledged bank deposit (Note 18), (3)
life insurance policy (Note 14), (4) corporate guarantee executed by the Company,
(5) personal guarantee executed by Mr. Adam Cheung and Ms. LC Cheung, (6)
guarantee executed by HKMC Insurance Company Limited under SME Financing
Guarantee Scheme and (7) assignment of rentals.

As at 31 December 2020, the banking facilities of the Group were secured by the
(1) legal charge over the leasehold land and buildings with carrying amounts of
approximately HK$6,322,000 (Note 13), (2) pledged bank deposit (Note 18), (3)
corporate guarantee executed by the Company, (4) personal guarantee executed
by Mr. Adam Cheung and Ms. LC Cheung and (5) assignment of rentals.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group had a facility agreement entered
into with a bank with certain obligation of Mr. Adam Cheung pursuant to such
facility agreement including Mr. Adam Cheung undertake to remain as a key
management of the Company.

The weighted average effective interest rate of the borrowings is
2.84% (2020: 2.95%) per annum as at 31 December 2021.

20.
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21. Deferred Tax Assets/Liabilities 21. EEBEEE 8&
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of REEHBRAERNENME - ATE
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been ERIEEENBED WK -
offset.
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial TRARVERRE 0 BELERIELE
reporting purposes: AT
2021 2020
—E-—F —ZE-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEr
Deferred tax assets BEFITBE = - 75
Deferred tax liabilities EERIER & (107) (122)
(107) (47)
The following are the deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised and BERAECHRIBEAE (EE) REZS)
movements thereon: AT

Accelerated/
(decelerated)

tax ECL
depreciation provision Total
o/ GRE) BHEE
BIETE EERE Mt
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$000
FETT FET FET
At 1 January 2020 NZE-_FTF—H—H 473 (203) 270
Credited to profit or loss (Note 9) st AEE (FiEE9) (167) (56) (223)
At 31 December 2020 R-E-_ETF+-_A=+—H 306 (259) 47
Charged to profit or loss (Note 9) B8k (K1FE9) (199) 259 60
At 31 December 2021 R=B=-_—F+=-A=+—H 107 - 107
As at 31 December 2021, the Group has unused tax losses of R-E-—F+_A=+—H ~5H
approximately HK$76,486,000 (2020: HK$5,655,000), subject to BREATIEEIEA76,486,000% T(=
agreement by the Inland Revenue Department, that are available for T T :565500087) ' ZEHIE
offset against future profits that may be carried forward indefinitely. EEARTBBRE - ATANEKHERK
No deferred tax assets has been recognised in relation to tax losses s ) iz AT A% PR HA muﬁq o FFA AR 2 A 2R
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The unused tax JRRAITERT + MU AR B BB TEE IR ER
losses may be carried forward indefinitely. FERIBEE - RAEARIBEEAIER
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22. Share Capital

23.

22. KA

Number of Share
ordinary shares capital
ZEREE (&N
HK$'000
FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each B 0.01 B TR LB
Authorised: JETE
At 1 January 2020, R-ZE-ZE5-H—H"
31 December 2020 and “E-EE+TZA=+-HEK
31 December 2021 —E--%¥+=ZA=+-—H 4,000,000,000 40,000
Issued and fully paid: E#FTRAE -
At 1 January 2020, R=-2-ZF-A-H"
31 December 2020 and “BCEETZAZT-HR
31 December 2021 —E--f+ZA=+-—H 2,600,000,000 26,000

Retirement Benefit Plan

The Group participates in an MPF scheme established under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance for its qualified
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of
an independent trustee. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to the
MPF scheme at rates specified in the rules. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the MPF scheme is to make the required
contributions. The cap of contribution amount is HK$1,500 per
employee per month. During the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020, the Group had no forfeited contributions under the MPF
Scheme utilised to reduce the existing levels of contributions.

The total expenses recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income amounted to approximately
HK$207,000 (2020: HK$392,000) for the year ended 31 December
2021 and represent contributions paid or payable to the MPF
scheme by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the scheme.

23.
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Share Option Scheme

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
conditionally adopted by the written resolutions of the shareholders
of the Company passed on 22 July 2019. Under the Scheme,
the board of directors of the Company may, at their absolute
discretion, at any time within a period of ten years commencing
from the effective date offer to grant to any eligible persons,
including employees, directors, consultants, suppliers, customers
and shareholders of any member of the Group, options to subscribe
for shares. The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without
prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The total number
of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted under the Scheme to eligible participants in any 12
months period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
shares in issue as at the date of grant, any further grant of options in
excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to the approval of Company’s
shareholders in a general meeting.

No share option has been granted by the Company since the
adoption of the Scheme.

EHEERABRAT - 2021 FR
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25.

Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank overdrafts and bank borrowings, as disclosed in
Note 20, respectively, net of bank balances and cash and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share capital and
reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As a part of this review, the management considers
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of items
in the context of capital structure, and takes appropriate actions to
adjust the Group’s capital structure. Based on recommendations
of the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through continuity of funding of cash flows from operating activities
or raising new funds by new share issues as well as the issue of new
debts.

25. EXERER

A S5 I HUA AR A TR L B 5
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The net debt-to-equity ratio at the end of the reporting period is as

25. EXERERE (H)

R E R FER AL RN

follows:
2021 2020
—EB-—F —ECRF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Debts &% 16,279 17,806
Less: Bank balances and cash o RIS N IR e (9,563) (5,945)
Net debt BVl 6,716 11,861
Total equity Ry iy 145,620 228,806
Net debt-to-equity ratio FETSE R AR L R 4.6% 5.2%
26. Financial Instruments 26. £RITH
Categories of financial instruments TRITAESE
2021 2020
—EB-—F ZEEF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost HEEN AT ENEREE 23,702 21,447
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFABENCRIEE 2,482 =
Financial liabilities N
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BEER AT ENSREE 45,263 24,478

EHEERABRAT - 2021 FR
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26.

Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s financial instruments include financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, trade receivables, other receivables and
deposits, pledged bank deposit, bank balances and cash, trade and
other payables, bank overdrafts and bank borrowings. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include market risk
(interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. Management has assessed there is minimal exposure
of the interest rate risk on the variable rate of interest incurred
on the bank balances, bank overdrafts and bank borrowings. It is
the Group's policy to raise borrowing at fixed-rate or variable-rate
according to business needs and as to balance the fair value and
cash flow interest rate risk.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management monitors interest rate risk exposure and
will consider interest rate hedging should the need arise.

26.
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Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for the variable rate bank overdrafts
and bank borrowings. The analysis is prepared assuming the bank
overdrafts and bank borrowings outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50-basis
point increase or decrease throughout the reporting period is used
internally for assessment of possible change in interest rate.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s loss before tax would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$81,000 for the year ended
31 December 2021 (2020: profit before tax would be decrease/
increase by HK$89,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s
exposure to interest rates on its variable rate bank overdrafts and
bank borrowings.

No sensitivity analysis has been prepared for the exposure to interest
rate risk on the Group’s bank balances as the management consider
that the exposure is minimal.
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26.

Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

At the end of each reporting period, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets and contract assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

The Group's concentration of credit risk by geographical location is
mainly in Hong Kong, which accounted for 100% (2020: 100%)
of the total financial assets and contract assets as at 31 December
2021.

Included in the Group’s financial assets as at 31 December 2021 is
bank balances and pledged bank deposit aggregate amounted to
approximately HK$14,563,000 (2020: HK$10,945,000) placed in
banks in Hong Kong.

The Group has concentration of credit risk in trade receivables
and contract assets, as approximately 92.3% (2020: 86.6%) of
total trade receivables outstanding at 31 December 2021, and
approximately 79.5% (2020: 92.4%) of contract assets outstanding
at 31 December 2021, were due from top five customers.

Other than concentration of credit risk on the trade receivables,
contract assets, pledged bank deposit and bank balances, the Group
has no other significant concentration risk on recognised financial
assets with exposure spread over a number of counterparties.

26.
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Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has policies in
place for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. Before accepting any new customer, the
Group carries out research on the credit risk of the new customer
and assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit
limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed when
necessary.

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model
on trade receivables and contract assets individually. The Group
considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset
and whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition on an ongoing basis.

The Group reassesses the lifetime ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets at the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for significant increases in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
In this regard, directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.
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26.

Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Relevant information with regard to the exposure of credit risk and
expected credit losses for trade receivables and contract assets are
set out in Note 15 and Note 17, respectively.

For other receivables and deposits, the Group has assessed and
concluded that the expected credit loss rate for these financial assets
is immaterial under 12m ECL based on the Group’s assessment
on the risk of the default of the counterparties. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. The directors concluded that there has been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the other
receivables and deposits. Thus, no loss allowance for credit losses
for the amounts is recognised during the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020 as the Group assessed the ECL was insignificant.

The credit risk of pledged bank deposit and bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

26.
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Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulties in
meeting its financial obligations as and when they fall due. In the
management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains
a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The directors of the Company monitor the utilisation of the bank
overdrafts and bank borrowings. At 31 December 2021, the Group
has available unutilised overdraft and short-term bank loan facilities
of approximately HK$42,627,000 (2020: HK$32,978,000).

The following table details the remaining contractual maturity of
the Group for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the earliest time band regardless of
the probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights.
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26. Financial Instruments (Continued) 26. SRITE (&)
Financial risk management objectives and BREREREBERBE ()
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBE SRR ()
Weighted On demand Total Total
average  or within 1t02 2 to 5 undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 year years years  cash flows amount
il REX AERRE REE
TR H1ER 122F 2E5% REAR e

% HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FiET FET

Non-derivative financial ETELRER

liabilities

Asat31December 2021 HRZZE=-F

+=B=+-H
Non-interest bearing TFitE
Trade and other payables BHRHMENTIE N/A RE R 28,984 - - 28,984 28,984
Interest bearing il
Bank overdrafts RITEX 2.16 8,373 - - 8,373 8,373
Bank borrowings RITIER 2.84 7,906 - - 7,906 7,906
Total @5t 45,263 - = 45,263 45,263
As at 31 December 2020 R-Z-%

+-A=+-H
Non-interest bearing TFitE
Trade and other payables B S R EMERNFUR N/A i@ 6,672 = = 6,672 6,672
Interest bearing il
Bank overdrafts RITEX 2.18 21 = = 21 21
Bank borrowings RITIER 2.95 17,785 - - 17,785 17,785
Total @5t 24,478 - - 24,478 24,478
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26. Financial Instruments (Continued) 26. AT A (&)
Financial risk management objectives and MRRREE R BERBCR (E)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REEEE (&
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included PSR ESRER GOV RITBRETA L
in the “on demand or within 1 year” time band in the above MEEADAT HEREKRS FA] B
maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2021, the aggregate carrying NeRZEBEZ—F+HA=+—H " %
amount of these bank borrowings amounted to HK$7,906,000 ZIRITIEF M AREREE A 7,906,000%
(2020: HK$17,785,000). Such bank borrowings of the Group are TT(ZZEZFF : 17,785,000 7T) ° 7
expected to be repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment MRS BN B BRITEFBREE K
dates set out in the loan agreements. EPTHMTEEERHHERE o
For the purpose of managing liquidity risk, the management reviews REBRBECRER  EEERETX
the expected cash flow information of the Group’s bank borrowings IS E R SN TEE R R A BT
based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan RAEENRITERERRSREER :

agreements as set out in the table below:

Total Total
Within 1t02 2t05 Over undiscounted carrying
1 year years years Syears  cash flows amount
RERRE REE
15/ 122% 21B5F BBSE REAR &g
HKS000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tér FiEr - FiET Fir TEr
As at 31 December 2021 R=Z=-F+-A=+-AH
Bank borrowings BRI 1,346 1,346 4,036 1,906 8,634 7,906
As at 31 December 2020 RZZZEETZA=1-H
Bank borrowings BB 12,365 4,116 1,715 - 18,196 17,785
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

26.

Financial Instruments (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured
at fair value on recurring basis

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. The Company uses the following
hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair values of financial

instruments:

Level 1T -  fair value measurements are those derived from
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2 —  fair value measurements are those derived from inputs
other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liabilities, either directly
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level3 -  fair value measurements are those derived from

valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset
or liability that are not based on observable market
data (unobservable inputs).

26. @RI E (&)

TRTAEZAFERE

REER

FHEENUQNFERE

ZEMEEZNFE

AEEZAFEFABDSNSBEEN
EREMRIZAFENE - ARRIKA
TMELAEERBEESR IANRF

g :

F—
F_
F=4

AFEHEHEEREER
£ BRERTIS 2 18 Gk
ERE) -

AFEBIHAE —RA
EASh 2 AR A2 A
BEHABIEE (R
%) Stz (IR BRI E)
SHETE -

AFEF R EI AL
R FTRR TR (R
BRG AR AR
{886 A B 0l BT 5t
B -
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Financial Instruments (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured
at fair value on recurring basis (Continued)

The financial assets measured at fair value are grouped into the fair
value hierarchy as follows:

26. @RI E (&)

BT AN VERE (&)

AEEREEMEE QN EFE
ZERMEEZAVEE)
BATEABZSRMEER AN FEE
B

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—® B E=R st
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FETT FET FET FET
As at R-B--F
31 December 2021 +-A=+-8
Financial assets at FVTPL A FERTABZ 2 @@EE
- Key management -FEEBAER
personnel life ASRE
insurance policy - 2,482 - 2,482
- 2,482 - 2,482

The fair value of the key management personnel life insurance policy
is determined by reference to the redemption value quoted by the
insurance company.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, there were
no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2

and no transfers into or out of Level 3.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any assets
and liabilities that were measured at the fair value measurements
hierarchy.

EHEERABRAT - 2021 FR

TZEBRABASREZATFEDNRE
KR ABIMRELCEEETE
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

26.

27.

Financial Instruments (Continued) 26. SRITE (&)
Fair value measurements of financial TRMITAZAFERE (&)
instruments (Continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial REBEW I REEMHEEUATE
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on recurring TECEREERERMAEZ AT
basis (=]
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of RRBEERR  NEEMBHRRFIE
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in BHERATENEREERERAGBN
the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair value. FREEHEEATERS °
Significant Related Party Transactions 27. EXBABLERS
Apart from disclosure elsewhere in the consolidated financial BRREeMBEmREME O ARES
statements, the Group entered into the following transactions with Gy REBRBE_ZE-_—FR_ZT—
related parties during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020: TE+ A=+ —HIEFEEAHGE]
MIATRS -
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
Notes HK$000 HK$°000
B &E FET FET
Rental expenses paid to: ALA T A2 AT
MemAL
Mr. Adam Cheung R HE (i) - 70
Ma Do Success Limited BRMKAR AR () & (i) 183 220
183 290
Notes: Bt
[0) The rental expenses were charged based on the terms agreed between the parties @) TRE RS TyIRIBE BART K075 11 HO fAR R
involved.
(ii) A company directly owned as to 40%, 30% and 15% by Mr. Adam Cheung, Ms. (i) —MHREE RETRERBEESFIE

LC Cheung and Mr. Ma Kan Sun, respectively. In addition, Mr. Adam Cheung and
Ms. LC Cheung are the directors of the company.

BB A40%  30% K 15% RAER A F) - It
N REERKRLTAZARNES -
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27. Significant Related Party Transactions

(Continued)

ire SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

The directors of the Company are also key management personnel

of the Group whose remunerations are disclosed in Note 10. Other

than that, the remuneration of a close family member of a director

of the Company and other members of key management personnel

of the Group during the year was as follows:

27.

EXRBBRAERS (&)

ARREF(NRAEEEREEAR)
B E B R BERAMEE 10 © BRUbZ 5N -
ARREFNRRER B RAREEE
EEABHMKENFHIT :

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-FF

HK$’000 HK$°000

FHET FAET

Short term benefits EHAtE A 989 1,180
Post-employment benefits B2 12 A 28 37
1,017 1,217

EHEERABRAT - 2021 FR

183




\ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R EUE:

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

28. Particulars of Subsidiaries of The Company 28. XX T E X AFHIE

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the Company RIERRARREZE LEERE 2
at the end of the reporting period are set out below: BARFIBEINNT
Place of Issued and Equity interests
Name of incorporation/ fully paid attributable to
subsidiary operations share capital owners of the Group Principal activities
BRTR FEBEAA
MEARERE MRS HRBRA FEfL IR A fE R TEERED
2021 2020
—BC-F —ZE-TF
Directly held:
BERE
Autumn Well BVI Us$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited RERAHE 17T AR
Indirectly held:
FIERE -
Pak Fai Hong Kong HK$300,000 100% 100%  Provision of wet trades
T BE 300,000787T works services
R TERS
Ma Yau Hong Kong HK$300,000 100% 100%  Provision of wet trades
B BE 300,000787T works services
RAUEK 2R
Pak Fai Plastering Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% - Provision of wet trades
Works Limited BE 10,0007 7T works services
fAEE kTR R AR RACRKTIZRTS
Conform Technology Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% - Provision of
Limited BE 10,0007 7T construction
BEEARRARAR information
technology services
RUZEETRHARTS
Creative Panda BVI us$2 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited RERUHE 2ETT REER
Vantage Charm BVI Us$2 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited RERUHE 2ETT REER
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29. Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising From
Financing Activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

29. MEEBELREZHIR

TRAMMEARDEEZAEB ARG
e BRASNIFReEH - BER
BELEZABRDRERELIRKEER
ERRNARESFSRERERDESR
ﬁ/ﬁ@ﬁﬁ IE%//ILEZE{E

activities.
Bank Bank

borrowings overdrafts Total
BATER SRITEX et
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2020 RZZE=-_TF—H—H - 3,815 3,815
Financing cash flows MEBRERE 17,443 (3,794) 13,649
Interest expenses recognised EHERA SR 342 - 342
At 31 December 2020 RZZE=EF+=-H=1+—H 17,785 21 17,806
Financing cash flows MERESRE (10,234) 8,352 (1,882)
Interest expenses recognised ERRAEFAEZ 355 - 355
At 31 December 2021 R-EBE-_—F+=-A=+-—H 7,906 8,373 16,279

Note:  The financing cash flows represented the net amount of proceeds from bank
borrowings, payment of finance costs and repayments of bank borrowings.

EHEERABRAT - 2021 FR
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R EUE:

30. Statement of Financial Position and

Reserves of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

Information about the statement of financial position of the

30.

RRBABARR KRR i

BRAARRRINBERAR I HIRRKZ

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BB
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—FEMRB AR ZIEE —* —*
Amount due from a subsidiary JEW —REIMN B AR FIE 92,208 92,208
92,208 92,208
Current assets REBEE
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR MRS 60 61
Total assets HWEE 92,268 92,269
Capital and reserves B #iE
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AR AI¥EE AFE(GHE
Share capital i &N 26,000 26,000
Reserves (=] 66,268 66,269
Total equity HRER 92,268 92,269

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2022 and

signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam
REE A
Director

EE
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KARFBMRARARR_ZE_—_F=A
“tN\BEEEe A RRERMG I
AATESERERESTERE

Mr. Ma Kan Sun

BRELE
Director

EE
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE =T - —F+-_A=1+—HILFE

30. Statement of Financial Position and 30. &2 BB KK (E)
Reserves of the Company (Continued)

A summary of the Company’s reserves are as follows: RARZ @M T

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total
B2 aRE E=4 0 F At
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FH% Fi% Fi#%
At 1 January 2020 RZE_TF—H—H 83,610 (17,384) 66,226
Profit and total comprehensive & & 2 E RS EEE
income for the year - 43 43
At 31 December 2020 RZZE=EF+-A=+—H 83,610 (17,341) 66,269
Loss and total comprehensive FABEREZERZ A
expense for the year = (1) (1
At 31 December 2021 R=ZB=-—F+=H=+—H 83,610 (17,342) 66,268
& The amount is less than HK$1,000. e SE AR 1,00087T ©
31. Event After The Reporting Period 31. REHEREE
On 28 January 2022, Pak Fai and an independent third party entered RZZEZZF—A=+/\B ' #EEE
into a sale and purchase agreement pursuant to which Pak Fai MNE=ZREIMNEERE RS Bt BEE
transferred its property located at Room 605, 6th Floor, Fashion EAURBABNERDEXKEHES1 E53
Centre, 51-53 Wing Hong Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, FEBERLGIEOSENYETZEE
Hong Kong to that independent third party for a consideration of ME=F - RIER4,080,000E T R
HK$4,080,000. The transaction was completed on 15 March 2022. SERZZT__F=A+HHBTEK °

EHEERABRAT - 2021 FR 187



i Financial Summary
B =

A summary of the results and assets, liabilities and equity of the Group ~ 8B C FIBREBEXGAUBRREBRER
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited EBFRHETREFE 2 AEEXENEE B
consolidated financial statements and the Prospectus, is set out below. The — EREFBEH I T o i B I AL

summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated financial ~— F|iZiFAPIEHREKZ —3H -
statements.
Results E 3

For the year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+—-BLFE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
ZB- - ZTTFE _—T-hAF ZET-N\F TLF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FETT FET FET
Revenue e 117,456 304,965 558,137 431,819 245,034
Gross (loss)/profit E(8),F (63,460) 3,803 70,183 52,866 27,945
Listing expenses a3 - = 17,586 2,024 s
(Loss)/profit for the year AR FEREZFA A
attributable to equity FEMEFA (E518)
holders of the Company &% (83,186) 7,369 35,826 40,321 21,270
Assets, liabilities and equity iE  SEKRER
At 31 December
R+=—A=+—8H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—E—F —ETF  B-hF ET-N\F E—+F
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE 12,286 11,615 13,919 7,918 6,496
Current assets mENEE 178,963 241,903 248,024 153,146 75,456
Total assets BEE 191,249 253,518 261,943 161,064 81,952
Current liabilities BB E 45,522 24,590 40,236 84,937 45,129
Net current assets mENEEFE 133,441 217,313 207,788 68,209 30,327
Total assets less current  BEERRBAEE
liabilities 145,727 228,928 221,707 76,127 36,823
Net assets BEFE 145,620 228,806 221,437 76,001 36,541
Equity attributable to RATIRERFEE A
equity holders of the FEE R
Company 145,620 228,806 221,437 76,001 36,541
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